
County Offices
Newland

Lincoln
LN1 1YL

27 February 2017

Executive

A meeting of the Executive will be held on Tuesday, 7 March 2017 in Committee Room One, 
County Offices, Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YL at 10.30 am for the transaction of business set 
out on the attached Agenda. 

Yours sincerely

Tony McArdle
Chief Executive

Membership of the Executive
(8 Members of the Council)

Councillor M J Hill OBE, Executive Councillor for Governance, Communications, 
Commissioning, Finance and Property (Leader of the Council)

Councillor Mrs P A Bradwell, Executive Councillor for Adult Care, Health and Children's 
Services (Deputy Leader)

Councillor C J Davie, Executive Councillor for Development

Councillor R G Davies, Executive Councillor for Highways, Transport and IT

Councillor R A Shore, Executive Councillor for Waste and Recycling

Councillor Mrs S Woolley, Executive Councillor for NHS Liaison and Community Engagement

Councillor C N Worth, Executive Councillor for Culture and Emergency Services

Councillor B Young, Executive Councillor for Community Safety and People Management

Public Document Pack





EXECUTIVE AGENDA
 TUESDAY, 7 MARCH 2017

Item Title Forward 
Plan 
Decision 
Reference

Pages

1 Apologies for Absence 

2 Declarations of Councillors' Interests 

3 Announcements by the Leader, Executive 
Councillors and Executive Directors 

4 Minutes of the Meeting of the Executive held on 
7 February 2017 

5 - 14

KEY DECISIONS - ITEMS TO BE RESOLVED BY THE 
EXECUTIVE 

5 Blue Light Campus and Collaboration 
Agreement 
(To receive a report from the Executive Director of 
Finance and Public Protection, which seeks 
approval to enter into a Collaboration Agreement 
legal agreement and to enter into a works contract 
with Willmott Dixon to construct a new Blue Light 
Campus)

I013044 15 - 32

NON KEY DECISIONS - ITEMS TO BE RESOLVED BY 
THE EXECUTIVE 

6 Council Business Plan 2016 - 2017 Performance 
Report, Quarter Three 
(To receive a report from the Chief Executive, which 
presents an overview of performance for Q3 against 
the Council Business Plan)

I012111 33 - 46

7 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 
on the Health of the People of Lincolnshire 2016 
(To receive a report from the Interim Director of 
Public Health, which invites the Executive to 
receive the Annual Report on the Health of the 
People of Lincolnshire from the Interim Director of 
Public Health and to consider the 
recommendations included in each chapter)

I013029 47 - 88



Democratic Services Officer Contact Details 

Name: Cheryl Hall
Direct Dial 01522 552113
E Mail Address cheryl.hall@lincolnshire.gov.uk

Please Note: for more information about any of the following please contact 
the Democratic Services Officer responsible for servicing this meeting

 Business of the meeting
 Any special arrangements
 Copies of reports

Contact details set out above.

All papers for council meetings are available on: 
www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/committeerecords

http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/committeerecords


1

EXECUTIVE
7 FEBRUARY 2017

PRESENT:  COUNCILLOR M J HILL OBE (LEADER OF THE COUNCIL)

Councillors Mrs P A Bradwell (Executive Councillor for Adult Care, Health and 
Children's Services) (Deputy Leader), C J Davie (Executive Councillor for 
Development), R A Shore (Executive Councillor for Waste and Recycling), C N Worth 
(Executive Councillor for Culture and Emergency Services) and B Young (Executive 
Councillor for Community Safety and People Management).

Councillors: C J T H Brewis (Chairman of the Community and Public Safety Scrutiny 
Committee and Vice-Chairman of the Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire), 
A Bridges (Chairman of the Economic Scrutiny Committee), J D Hough (Chairman of 
the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee), P J O'Connor (Chairman of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee) and Mrs C A Talbot (Chairman of 
the Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire) were also in attendance. 

Officers in attendance:-

Tony McArdle (Chief Executive), Debbie Barnes (Executive Director, Children's 
Services), David Forbes (County Finance Officer), Glen Garrod (Executive Director of 
Adult Care and Community Wellbeing), Cheryl Hall (Democratic Services Officer), 
Judith Hetherington Smith (Chief Information and Commissioning Officer), 
Pete Moore (Executive Director, Finance and Public Protection), Jasmine Sodhi 
(Performance and Equalities Manager), Nigel West (Head of Democratic Services 
and Statutory Scrutiny Officer), Richard Wills (Executive Director, Environment and 
Economy) and Simon Wright (Principal Officer (Regeneration)).

49    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors R G Davies, Mrs A M Newton 
and Mrs S Woolley. 

50    DECLARATIONS OF COUNCILLORS' INTERESTS

There were no declarations of interests made at this point in the proceedings. 

51    ANNOUNCEMENTS BY THE LEADER, EXECUTIVE COUNCILLORS AND 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

There were no announcements. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



2
EXECUTIVE
7 FEBRUARY 2017

52    MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE EXECUTIVE HELD ON 4 JANUARY 
2017

RESOLVED

That the minutes of the Executive held on 4 January 2017 be agreed and 
signed by the Chairman as a correct record. 

53    REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 2016/17

Consideration was given to a report from the Executive Director of Finance and 
Public Protection, which provided an update on spending compared with budgets for 
the financial year which started on 1 April 2016. 

The County Finance Officer presented the report to the Executive and in doing so, 
advised that the tables in the report had shown the actual income and expenditure for 
nine months of the financial year, along with projections for spending and a 
comparison of the projections against the approved budgets. 

Members were provided with an opportunity to ask questions, where the following 
points were noted: -

 It was requested that the narrative, as detailed at paragraph 1.27 of the report, 
in relation to an underspend of £1.724m within the community wellbeing 
commissioning strategy was expanded;

 It was noted that the Executive Director for Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing was continuing to work with the districts in developing a 
memorandum of understanding with the seven district councils on the 
expenditure of the Disability Facilities Grant.  Officers were still awaiting 
national guidance on this matter.  

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee advised that 
the Committee had considered a report on the Revenue and Capital Budget 
Monitoring Report 2016/17 at its meeting on 26 January 2017. It was noted that the 
Committee had supported the recommendations contained in the Executive's report 
and its comments were detailed in the additional information pack.

A discussion took place regarding the issues around delayed transfers of care in 
hospitals and Members were assured that officers from the County Council were 
working with the local NHS to find solutions to the matter.  The County Council had 
officers from Adult Care located in surrounding hospitals to assist with the flow of 
patients.  The Executive wished its thanks to those teams be noted.  

RESOLVED

That the current position on the revenue and capital budgets be noted. 

Page 6



3
EXECUTIVE

7 FEBRUARY 2017

54    COUNCIL BUDGET 2017/18

Consideration was given to a report from the Executive Director of Finance and 
Public Protection, which invited the Executive to consider its final proposals for the 
Council's budget and council tax in light of consultation comments on its initial 
proposals.  The Executive was also asked to consider prudential targets in relation to 
capital financing and other treasury management matters and to recommend to full 
Council the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy for 2017/18.

The County Finance Officer introduced the report to the Executive and guided them 
through those updates to the Council Budget 2017/18, tabled at the meeting, which 
had taken place since the meeting on 4 January 2017.  Some of the changes 
included the following: -

 Members were reminded that this was a one year budget only for 2017/18;
 The current net increase in income from growth in the council tax base, plus 

the surplus on the council tax collection fund, less the deficit on the business 
rates collection fund had increased the Council's income for 2017/18 by 
£9.586m (previously £6.397m);

 The changes to grants and revenue expenditure, as detailed within the tabled 
update, had added additional costs of £1.527m to the Council's budget;

 The government grant allocations assumed in the budget proposals were 
those announced in the Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 
and therefore may be subject to change.  The Final Settlement was expected 
on 20 February 2017;

 Consultation comments on the budget proposals were detailed at Appendix H 
to the report. 

The Executive was asked to consider the potential use of the net additional income of 
£8.059m.  The following three options were put to the Executive: -

 To reduce the amount of funding required from the Financial Volatility Reserve 
to set a balanced budget in 2017/18;

 To fund additional spending by the Council or reduce the savings required to 
be made; or

 To reduce the planned increase in Council Tax of 3.95%. 

The Executive supported the recommendation that the net additional funding was 
used to reduce the contribution required from the Council's Financial Volatility 
Reserve to meet the 2017/18 budget shortfall.  

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee advised that 
comments from the overview and scrutiny committees on the Council Budget 
2017/18 were detailed at Appendix H. 

Page 7



4
EXECUTIVE
7 FEBRUARY 2017

Members were provided with an opportunity to ask questions where the following 
points were noted: -

 The Adult Care budget was set in the context of increasing demographic 
pressure and cost pressures related to service provider fee increases in order 
to accommodate the increasing cost of employment, as a result of the National 
Living Wage.  This resulted in a cost pressure of £6.670m in 2017/18.  
Therefore the income from the Adult Care element of the precept of £5.2m 
would not cover the cost pressure;

 Members recognised the importance of adding any additional income to the 
Volatility Reserve, as it had proved vital in balancing the budget in previous 
financial years;

 Overall levels of funding to local government were reducing and would 
continue to reduce in future years.  The use of any additional funding to 
smooth the effect of the budget reductions would allow the Council more time 
to develop robust new service models;

 It was suggested that delegated authority should be given to the Leader to 
review and amend the Executive's budget recommendations to the County 
Council, as appropriate, in light of the final Local Government Settlement once 
it had been received and business rates information from the Lincolnshire 
district councils if received between the Executive meeting and the County 
Council on 24 February 2017;

 Although the County Council had faced significant funding pressures over the 
past four years, it had maintained frontline services.  However, Members 
recognised that further difficult decisions would have to be made to balance 
the County Council's budget in future years.  It was agreed that it was due to 
prudent accounting, including the managing of reserves, that the County 
Council could balance its budget. 

RESOLVED

That the Executive:

(1) Consider the effect of the updated funding available and revenue 
expenditure as noted in paragraphs 1.2 to 1.22 and Appendix A of the 
report;

(2) Consider the Equality Impact Analysis at Appendix B and the consultation 
comments as shown in Appendix H and presented at the meeting;

(3) Subject to recommendation 4 below, approve for recommendation to full 
Council:

a) the revenue budget shown in Appendix C of the report;

b) the capital programme shown in Table A and Appendix D of the report;

Page 8



5
EXECUTIVE

7 FEBRUARY 2017

c) the levels of council tax proposed in Table B of the report including the 
increasing of council tax in 2017/18 by 3.95%; 

d) the prudential indicators shown in Appendix F of the report; and

e) the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy attached at Appendix G of 
the report.

(4) Request the Leader, to review and amend the Executive's budget 
recommendations to the County Council, as appropriate, in light of the final 
Local Government Settlement, council tax and business rates information 
from the Lincolnshire district councils if received between the Executive 
meeting and the County Council on 24 February 2017.

55    SOUTH LINCOLNSHIRE FOOD ENTERPRISE ZONE AND PEPPERMINT 
JUNCTION IMPROVEMENTS, HOLBEACH

Consideration was given to a report from the Executive Director for Environment and 
Economy, which sought the approval of the Executive to a range of interlocked 
activities at Peppermint Junction on the north western edge of Holbeach, which would 
see the creation of a Food Enterprise Zone (FEZ), the provision of enabling highways 
improvement works and the delivery of circa 900 new dwellings. 

The Leader of the Council and the Executive Councillor for Culture and Emergency 
Services introduced the report and advised that the proposals would boost the local 
economy and improve road safety within the area.

The Principal Officer – Regeneration advised that the South Lincolnshire FEZ would 
provide an opportunity to create new, purpose-built employment space, using a 
simplified planning process for the benefit of the agri-sector across south Lincolnshire. 

The completion of the South Lincolnshire FEZ (the development of both Lincolnshire 
County Council and private owned land) would lead to the creation of approximately 
59,400sq m of new business space which would in turn accommodate over 2,000 
jobs. 

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee advised that 
the Committee had considered a report on the South Lincolnshire Food Enterprise 
Zone and Peppermint Junction Improvements, Holbeach at its meeting on 26 
January 2017. It was noted that the Committee had supported the recommendations 
contained in the Executive's report and its comments were detailed in the additional 
information pack.

Page 9



6
EXECUTIVE
7 FEBRUARY 2017

RESOLVED

That the Executive:-

(1) approve the carrying out of highway improvement works on the A17 and 
A151 at Holbeach as described in the Report and the appropriation of 
County Farms Estate land to use for the highway improvement works;

(2) delegate to the Executive Director for Environment and Economy, in 
consultation with the Executive Councillor for Highways, Transport and IT 
and the Executive Councillor for Culture and Emergency Services, authority 
to determine the final form and approve the entering into of the contract for 
the highway works;

(3) approve the development of a Food Enterprise Zone (FEZ) on land to the 
west of the A151 at Spalding as more fully described in the Report to 
include:-

a) The use of Council land for such purposes including to the extent 
required the appropriation of County Farms Estate land to use for the 
Food Enterprise Zone (FEZ);

b) The acquisition of privately owned land for such purposes;
c) The carrying out of servicing and other enabling works on the FEZ 

site and disposal of serviced sites

(4) approve the sale of approximately three acres of Council-owned land on the 
site of the FEZ to the University of Lincoln for new campus facilities and the 
acquisition/disposal by the Council of various leasehold and freehold 
property interests of the University of Lincoln at the existing University of 
Lincoln Holbeach Campus.

(5) approve continued discussions with South Holland District Council over 
commercial terms for working in partnership to deliver the FEZ including 
shared property ownership.

(6) delegate to the Executive Director for Finance and Public Protection, in 
consultation with the Executive Councillor for Highways Transport and IT 
and the Executive Councillor for Culture and Emergency Services, the 
authority to determine the terms of any land appropriations, disposals and 
acquisitions relating to paragraphs 1, 3, 4 and 5 or otherwise relating to the 
highway works or the FEZ and to approve the entering into of any legal 
documentation necessary to give effect to such appropriations, acquisitions 
and disposals;

Page 10



7
EXECUTIVE

7 FEBRUARY 2017

(7) delegate to the Executive Director for Environment and Economy, in 
consultation with the Executive Councillor for Culture and Emergency 
Services, authority to make decisions on how to bring forward the 
development of the FEZ including decisions as to the programming of land 
acquisitions and works and partnership working with South Holland District 
Council.

56    RESPONSE TO THE SUSTAINABILITY AND TRANSFORMATION PLAN

A report from the Executive Director Adult Care and Community Wellbeing was 
considered, which invited the Executive to note the content of the Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan (STP) and its accompanying Public Summary and sought 
approval to make a response to the STP, based on the points in Appendix C. 

The Executive Director Adult Care and Community Wellbeing advised that the STP 
was launched in December 2016.  The Plan itself and a Public Summary had been 
produced.  Formal consultation on major service change contained in the finalised 
STP was not expected until May 2017. 

The Plan had been considered by County Council on 16 December 2016, when it 
had been resolved to establish a cross-party working group to consider the likely 
financial and other impacts on county council services and make recommendations 
to the Executive.  Comments from the Working Group were circulated at the 
meeting of the Executive. 

It was noted that the Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire had considered 
reports on the Sustainability and Transformation Plan at its meetings on 12 and 
18th January 2017.  The initial response of the Health Scrutiny for Lincolnshire on 
the Lincolnshire STP was attached to the report at Appendix D. 

The Vice-Chairman of the Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire was invited 
to speak on the item and expressed his doubt over the deliverability of the 44 STP 
documents across England. 

Members were provided with an opportunity to ask questions, where the following 
points were noted: - 

 The financial viability of the STP was queried, in particular focusing on the 
capital requirements and the affordability of the options;

 Councillors expressed their disappointment that the East Midlands 
Ambulance Services had not been referred to within the STP or the Fire and 
Rescue's co-responders and in particular the delays at Accident and 
Emergency departments;

 Consideration should also be given to the STP documents of neighbouring 
areas, as patients from Lincolnshire may be treated within those areas;

 Concerns were raised in relation to the options for maternity services, as it 
was felt that as a result of the proposed changes, patients were likely to use 
Peterborough City Hospital rather than Lincoln County Hospital and therefore 
the local NHS economy would lose money to a neighbouring Trust;

Page 11



8
EXECUTIVE
7 FEBRUARY 2017

 Councillors welcomed certain options which would mean services were 
provided locally, rather than having to travel for services.

RESOLVED

That the Executive:

(1) Notes the Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) and its 
accompanying Public Summary, those comments currently provided by the 
Health Scrutiny Committee and the recommendations of the cross-party 
working group.

(2) Resolves to make a response to the STP at this stage and work up a 
response based on the points made in Appendix C to the report as the basis 
of an initial response to be submitted by the Council to the STP in its current 
form.

(3) Agrees that the Executive Director for Adult Care and Community Wellbeing 
draft a response to be approved by the Leader of the Council for 
submission.

57    FINAL DRAFT COUNCIL BUSINESS PLAN 2017/2018

Consideration was given to a report from the Chief Executive, which sought approval 
of the final draft Council Business Plan, as detailed at Appendix A to the report.  

The Performance and Equalities Manager presented the report to the Executive and 
in doing so highlighted that the final draft Council Business Plan was scheduled to be 
considered by the County Council at its meeting on 24 February 2017.

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee advised that 
the Committee had considered a report on the Final Draft Council Business Plan 
2017/2018 at its meeting on 26 January 2017.  It was noted that the Committee had 
supported the recommendations contained in the Executive's report and its 
comments were detailed in the additional information pack.   

In response to the concerns raised by the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee, the following points were noted: -

 In relation to the reporting of incidents of domestic abuse (measure 7), which 
was lower than expected, Members were assured that there was no evidence 
to suggest that domestic abuse incidents were not being recorded by the 
Police;

 In relation to a request for a chlamydia diagnosis measure for under 15s and 
another measure for over 50s, in addition to measure 34 for 15-24 year olds, it 
agreed that this information could be included within the commentary for 
measure 34.  It was explained that whilst it was correct that the Lincolnshire 
Integrated Sexual Health Service does treat people of all ages, the focus of 
the service was around this most 'at risk' age group and the numbers of 

Page 12



9
EXECUTIVE

7 FEBRUARY 2017

people that fall either below 15 or over 50 years of age were likely to be very 
small and so may skew the perceived performance of the services as a whole;

 It was agreed that a performance trend was included within the commentary 
for the measures on People killed and seriously injured in road traffic collisions 
and Children killed or seriously injured in road traffic collisions to enable longer 
term monitoring;

 It was confirmed that the measures which were due to be removed from the 
Business Plan in relation to NEET (measure 34) and Pupils ages 16-18 
participating in learning (measure 43) would be monitored at service level;

 The Executive supported the Committee's suggestion to introduce a measure 
in the Business Plan on antisocial behaviour.

In response to a question, the Executive was advised that although further work was 
still required the number of exclusions from schools within Lincolnshire had reduced.  
It was felt that this was in part owing to the introduction of a behaviour outreach 
service, as well as greater collaboration and challenge across schools.

RESOLVED

(1) That the recommendation of the outcomes and measures specified in 
Appendix A as the Council Business Plan for 2017/2018, be approved in 
principle; and

(2) That the Leader of the Council be delegated authority to determine any 
changes to the said outcomes and measures to be recommended to the 
meeting of the County Council following discussion with Executive Councillors.

The meeting closed at 11.50 am.

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Executive 

 

Open Report on behalf of Pete Moore, Executive Director of Finance and 
Public Protection 

 

 

Report to: Executive 

Date: 07 March 2017 

Subject: Blue Light Campus and Collaboration Agreement  

Decision Reference: I013044  

Key decision? Yes  
 

Summary 

The purpose of the report is to: 
 

1. Provide an overview of progress to date on the Lincoln Blue Light 
Campus Project; 

 
2. Seek Executive approval to enter into the Blue Light Collaboration 

programme legal agreement, and; 
 

3. Seek Executive approval to enter into a works contract with Willmott Dixon 
to construct a new Blue Light Campus that provides an operational hub for 
Blue Light services (Lincolnshire Police (LP), Lincolnshire Fire & Rescue 
(LFR) and East Midlands Ambulance Service (EMAS) in South Park 
Avenue, Lincoln. 

 
 

 

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the Executive approve in principle that the Council enter into a 
Collaboration Agreement with the Police and Crime Commissioner for 
Lincolnshire and the East Midlands Ambulance Services NHS Trust 
generally on the terms described in the Report 
 

2) That the Executive approve in principle that the Council enter into a 
works contract with Willmott Dixon to construct the new Blue Light 
Campus on South Park Avenue, Lincoln generally on the terms 
described in the Report 

 
3) Delegate to the Executive Director of Finance and Public Protection in 

consultation with a sounding board consisting of Councillor M J Hill OBE 
(Leader of the Council), Councillor B Young (Executive Councillor for 
Community Safety and People Management) and Councillor C N Worth 
(Executive Councillor for Culture and Emergency Services), authority to 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



determine the final form of and enter into the Collaboration Agreement 
and  works contract referred to above and authority to approve and enter  
into all further legal documentation necessary to give effect to the 
Collaboration Agreement. 

 
 

Alternatives Considered: 

Not to proceed with the project to build the Blue Light Campus or engage in the 
further collaborative working described in the Report. 
 
The Council’s capital funding will not be expended. The opportunity for further 
collaborative working will be lost; savings that are projected from the South Park 
project will not be realised and funding from the Home Office will be lost. 
 

 

Reasons for Recommendation: 

The Blue Light Collaboration programme is an innovative and exciting venture 
which has been developed between Lincolnshire Police, Lincolnshire County 
Council (as Fire and Rescue Authority), East Midlands Ambulance Service, and 
the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) with the aim of building on the 
existing collaborative work which currently exists between each of the 
organisations. 
 
The project at South Park Avenue in Lincoln, will provide a modern, efficient, 
and fit for purpose building which meets the future operational needs of each 
service, whilst delivering savings and reducing running costs for all. 
 
The Collaboration Agreement underpins the joint working between all of the 
parties and provides the foundation for a clear and accountable working 
relationship, providing the cornerstone for joint working now and laying the 
foundations and providing scope for further joint working in the future.  
 
The collaboration agreement fulfils the new duty on emergency services to 
collaborate. It gives each organisation an opportunity to maximise 
interoperability and integration in the future, to maintain and improve service 
delivery and increase public confidence by working more closely together while 
recognising the importance of maintaining their individual identity.  

 

 
1. Background 
 
The Blue Light Programme 
 
1.1 The Blue Light Programme is the umbrella term given to a range of projects 

that will enable collaborative working across the 3 emergency services in 
Lincolnshire. In June 2016 the Executive considered and approved the Blue 
Light Collaboration Programme, this firmly set the course for greater 
cooperation and joint working between the 3 emergency services in 

Page 16



Lincolnshire.  At the same time the June Report envisaged further key 
decisions being taken at the Executive.  This Report invites the Executive to 
take two key decisions for the future of the programme – to enter in the 
Collaboration Agreement and to enter in the works contract for the Blue 
Light Campus in Lincoln.  It also proposes delegation of future decision-
making. 
 

1.2 The Blue Light Programme comprises the following:  
 

 A combined Lincolnshire Police and Lincolnshire Fire & Rescue 
Headquarters. LFR will move their Headquarters to the current LP 
Headquarters, using office space within the existing building. The change 
will enable efficiencies to be made from the co-location of staff, joint working 
and future rationalisation of resources. LFR HQ staff from South Park 
Avenue and a number of LP staff from West Parade will be relocated to 
Nettleham, allowing the redevelopment of South Park Avenue and the sale 
of the West Parade site. EMAS currently have a divisional base at 
Bracebridge Heath. While the potential exists, they are not intending to co-
locate with the joint HQ at this stage. 

 
 A combined Lincolnshire Police and Lincolnshire Fire & Rescue  

Command & Control Centre.  The existing LFR Control Room at South 
Park Avenue would relocate to the existing LP Force Control Room at 
Nettleham.  LFR and LP will co-locate in the existing building, allowing better 
communication between both organisations during mobilising and Joint 
Operational Incidents. EMAS have indicated a possible move back to the 
East Midlands area for their Lincolnshire control room and therefore would 
not currently be included in the joint control room.  

 
 Blue Light Campus (South Park) - a flagship project to co-locate 

Lincolnshire Police, Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue and East Midlands 
Ambulance Service into one building. See Section 3 for more details. 
 

 Rationalisation of the wider blue light estate. A Joint Asset Management 
Group has been created to progress the co-location of Lincolnshire’s 
emergency service buildings across the county. The group has currently 
identified up to 16 potential sites for co-location, with 7 sites being delivered 
in the medium term. These projects typically see the move of police and 
ambulance stations onto existing fire stations and would realise both 
operational and economic efficiencies whilst maintaining a local presence.  

 
1.3  The Blue Light Campus project (South Park Avenue), will see all 3 

emergency services locating together in one building as an operational hub 
for the first time. The Blue Light Campus will be a ‘state of the art’ combined 
Police, Fire and Ambulance operational station and will be located on the 
existing EMAS and LFR site. This will include a new LP town enquiry office 
and custody suite which is currently provided at West Parade.  

 
1.4 The county emergency planning centre will remain at South Park Avenue 

within the current building.  

Page 17



 
1.5  To facilitate the project, LP submitted an outline bid to the Home Office 

Police Innovation Fund for £7.5m. This has been approved subject to final 
agreement and provision of matched funding by local services. 

 
General Background 
 
1.6 Since 2010 the Government’s financial savings programme has seen 

significant challenges for both local authorities and other public services. 
With the realisation that these difficult times are set to continue, 
collaboration offers the opportunity for Services to face these challenges 
together whilst maintaining and improving services to the people of Lincoln 
and Lincolnshire. 

 
1.7 On 31 January 2017 the Policing and Crime Act 2017 came into force.  The 

Act requires emergency services to consider whether the entering into of a 
collaboration agreement with another emergency service could be in the 
interests of the efficiency or effectiveness of that service.  If two or more 
such services conclude that a collaboration agreement could be in the 
interests of the efficiency or effectiveness of their services, then they must 
give effect to that collaboration by entering into a collaboration agreement. 

 

1.8 Lincolnshire continues to rise to the challenge of austerity through innovative 
working, such as regional collaboration, private sector partnerships and 
programmes such as the co-responding scheme and joint ambulance 
conveyance project. Each Service has also internally maximised 
opportunities to deliver savings, minimising the impact on service delivery as 
far as possible.  

 
1.9 The collaborative legal agreement and the South Park Campus support the 

Government’s policy direction around increased collaboration and 
integration of emergency services. 

 
1.10 At the same time it is recognised that the individual identity of each 

organisation is vital to allow its effective function. Whilst the programme 
delivers collaboration between the three emergency services and provides a 
platform for further collaboration and possibly integration in the future, it also 
aims to ensure that the established relationships each service enjoys with 
the public is not compromised. 

 
1.11 The South Park Campus provides an opportunity to build on the Joint 

Emergency Services Interoperability Programme (JESIP) principles, 
introduced in 2010, as a way “To ensure that the blue light services are 
trained and exercised to work together as effectively as possible at all levels 
of command in response to major or complex incidents so that as many lives 
as possible can be saved”. 

 
1.12 Nationally other services have already accessed funding streams and 

achieved economies of scale through emergency services collaborative 
working, attracting the interest and support of Government. With further 

Page 18



funding reductions likely and with less opportunity to individually attain the 
level of savings previously achieved without further impact on service 
delivery, this programme represents Lincolnshire’s opportunity to meet the 
political and public expectation of providing value for money and delivering 
services which are fit for purpose.   

 
1.13 The age and condition of the existing estate for each Service, within the 

scope of this programme, must also be taken into consideration. Within 
Lincoln alone, buildings such as West Parade and South Park Avenue date 
back at least 50 years and will require a significant amount of investment to 
ensure they can continue to safely and effectively function, whilst also 
adapting to meet the needs of ever changing Service requirements. 

 
1.14 This is also the case for EMAS, where many of the current sites lack 

appropriate accommodation for the level of staffing required, do not have the 
capacity to meet growing demand or are in need of essential improvements.  

 

2.1 This section of the Report describes the structure, principles and general 
content of the proposed Collaboration Agreement.  The parties will be 
Lincolnshire County Council (in its capacity as Fire and Rescue Authority), 
the Police and Crime Commissioner for Lincolnshire and East Midlands 
Ambulance Service NHS trust. 

 
Scope of the Agreement 
 
2.2 The Agreement covers four elements as follows 
 

 Shared Headquarters Project  
 Shared Control Room Project  
 Blue Light Campus Project  
 Wider collaboration including wider estates as described earlier in this 

Report and the potential for moving towards greater inter-operability. 
 

2.3 The detailed terms on which the first three of these Projects will proceed will 
be described in the Collaboration Agreement.  The Collaboration Agreement 
will not deal in detail with either wider estates or future inter-operability.  
Instead the Agreement will make provision for the development of future 
projects through a business case and formal sign-off process and set out the 
wider governing principles which will underpin the approach to that future 
work. 

 
Governance 
 
2.4 The highest level of governance will be an Executive Board consisting of the 

Leader of the Council the Police and Crime Commissioner and the 
Chairman of the EMAS Board.  The role of this Board will be to steer the 
project on strategic matters taking decisions where this is appropriate within 
the context of each service's constitutional arrangements. 

Page 19



 
2.5 The Executive Board will be supported by a Steering Group consisting of 

senior officers from each service.  This Group will oversee the day to day 
implementation of the collaboration. 

 
2.6 Sitting below this level will be a Programme Board chaired by the Senior 

Responsible Officer (the Deputy Chief Constable of Lincolnshire Police) and 
attended by Programme Management and specialist professional staff.  This 
group will be responsible for the detailed delivery of the collaboration. 

 
2.7 The Collaboration Agreement will, at each level of the governance, ensure 

that where formal decisions are required outside the scope of approved 
delegations, those decisions are taken in accordance with each service's 
internal arrangements. 

 
Contracting and Land Issues 
 
2.8 Essentially the Collaboration Agreement deals with a number of land and 

construction projects and the principal means by which the collaboration will 
be implemented in legal terms will be through entering into of construction 
contracts and the granting and taking of leases.  The structure for the 
different elements of the programme is as follows:- 

 

 Shared HQ and Control Rooms – the Police will contract for the 
carrying out of necessary construction works and grant a lease of 
space at Nettleham on terms to be agreed.  The Police will continue to 
own the freehold of the land at Nettleham. 
 

 Blue Light Campus – the Council will continue to own the freehold of 
the land it owns at the South Park Campus and will take a freehold 
transfer of the EMAS Land at South Park.  The Council will then grant 
leases to the PCC and EMAS for their occupation of the relevant parts 
of the new Blue Light Campus Building and use of shared areas.  To 
reflect the level of the PCC's capital contribution to the cost of the 
works the PCC will be granted a contractual right to 50% of the value 
of the South Park site so that if the Site is not required for statutory 
purposes by any of the partners the Council may "buy out" the PCC's 
share for the depreciated value of the PCC's contribution or the site will 
be sold and the proceeds of the sale shared 50/50 between the 
Council and the PCC. 

 
In addition the Council will contract for the carrying out of the 
construction works at the Blue Light Campus 
 

 The wider estates work will be subject to individual business cases but 
it is expected that the wider estates initiatives will involve PCC and 
EMAS occupation of County Council Fire Station sites under 
appropriate lease or licence arrangements.  

 
 

Page 20



Financial Arrangements 
 
2.9 The Collaboration Agreement will commit each of the participants to making 

their financial and other contributions to the Project.  These can be 
summarised as follows:- 

 

Funded By Contribution 

Police  7.0 

Lincolnshire CC 4.8 

EMAS 0.7 

PIF Grant 6.9 

TOTAL 19.4 

 
In addition to these cash contributions, the County Council is contributing 
land to the value of £2.5m and EMAS are contributing land to the value of 
£0.3m. 
 

2.10 As can be seen from the above Table, in addition to contributions from the 
Partners, the Police have obtained Police Innovation Fund grant of £6.9m.  
The PCC will be the Accountable Body for these monies.  The other 
partners will provide the PCC with the information necessary for the grant to 
be drawn down in the full amount. 

 
2.11 The Collaboration Agreement will also deal with two further issues relating to 

finances:- 
 

 The way in which the individual contributions are expended and how 
those parties who have entered into contractual commitments with third 
parties (particularly the County Council's contract for the Blue Light 
Campus construction) can meet their commitments from the total 
funding of the programme; and 

 How the partners who take on contractual commitments and therefore 
liabilities will be entitled to indemnification from other partners in the 
event of liability being incurred.  This will be in accordance with a pre-
agreed apportionment ratio expected to be related to the scale of 
contributions. 

 
Duration  
 
2.12 Each partner's rights of occupation of the various buildings will be governed 

by the leases for those premises – Nettleham Shared HQ and South Park 
Blue Light Campus building.  Duration of leases will be tied to the need for 
use for statutory purposes and suitable minimum durations will be agreed.  
The Collaboration Agreement will need to remain inforce to enable the 
enforcement of the PCC's right to share in the value of the Blue Light 
Campus land including buildings.  

 
2.13 Suitable provision will be included to cover the potential for early withdrawal 

and the consequences.  It is worth noting in this respect that the Policing 

Page 21



and Crime Act 2017 requires a collaboration agreement entered into under 
that Act to make provision for a party to withdraw if in its view the agreement 
is no longer in the interests of efficiency or effectiveness. 

 
3. South Park Blue Light Campus – Works Contract 
 
Background and Context 
 
3.1  The South Park Campus is the project to co-locate LP, EMAS and LFR in 

one building on South Park Avenue, Lincoln. This project is being delivered 
by LCC (Corporate Property). LCC will be the contracting authority with 
Willmott Dixon. 

 
3.2  This project will deliver a significant number of benefits to each organisation 

and to members of the public in Lincoln. The key benefits identified in the 
initial business case, submitted to the Steering Group in December 2015, 
include; 

 
 The project aligns with Government strategy and demonstrates 

innovative working 
 

 Maintains and improves services to the public through providing the 
opportunity for increased levels of joint working 

 
 Provides efficiency and effectiveness savings and therefore greater 

value for money  
 
 Greater interoperability and integration opportunities 
 
 The opportunity for Senior Leadership Teams working closer together 

 
 Provides a new state of the art and future proof building 
 
 Further enhanced national reputation for Lincolnshire  
 
 Mitigates impact of future funding reductions 
 
 Improved working environment for staff 
 
 Creates a platform for greater future collaboration 
 

3.3 There is a net reduction in floor area of around 4565 square metres between 
South Park and West Parade. This will enable revenue savings of around 
£210,000 per year to be realised by the Police, Fire and EMAS. 

 
3.4 The co-location of 3 emergency services onto one site unlocks opportunities 

that otherwise, would not be possible. For example: 
 

Page 22



 There will be a joint reception for all 3 services in the building. A 
member of the public or visitor to the Campus will be greeted and 
served in a seamless manner 
 

 Stores for operational equipment will be located and consolidated 
under one roof. This  cuts down on the infrastructure and utility 
requirements - at present the storage is located at separate properties 
in the existing LFR building on South Park Avenue and Police Station 
on West Parade 

 
 Fire Appliances and Ambulances will share bays within the building, 

considerably cutting down on the amount of infrastructure that is 
needed to service two separate buildings as is presently the case 

 
3.6  As referred to above, the Blue Light Campus will be in part leased to 

Lincolnshire Police and East Midlands Ambulance Service. The lease 
agreement is based on each organisation being the sole occupant of parts of 
the building whilst also shared communal facilities (e.g. toilets, gym, kitchen 
etc). There will also be a service charge levied on top of the lease for 
services provided to the building (e.g. cleaning). The rent levels will be 
determined by the capital contribution that each organisation contributes 
towards the Blue Light Campus.  

 
Progress to Date 
 
3.7 A procurement strategy was produced to identify the most appropriate route 

to achieve success whilst balancing the inherent risks of the project and 
maintaining control of the property solution. 

 
3.8 The procurement strategy recommended that the Blue Light Campus would 

benefit from early building contractor engagement to mitigate the risks and 
complexities of the project. The most appropriate way of doing this is by 
procuring an experienced contractor through a framework, the SCAPE 
National Major Works Framework was the most suitable. This is a single 
supplier framework with Willmott Dixon as the supplier. 

 

3.8 A feasibility study was produced which compared the various configuration 
options of the site at South Park Avenue to meet the needs of all 3 services. 
Consideration was given to access and egress of vehicles, how the Fire 
Station (Station 20) will remain operational during the build and 
fundamentally, the affordability of all the different site configurations. 

 
3.10 Five options were developed and Option 5 (Appendix A) was selected as the 

preferred layout as it combined affordability, practicality and allowed Station 
20 to remain operational whilst the new building is constructed. 

 
3.11 Following the feasibility study, and working with Willmott Dixon, a project 

brief was developed. The project brief reflects on the requirements for the 
Blue Light Campus and proposes, at a high level, a design solution. See 
Appendix B for an artist's impression of how the building might look. 

Page 23



 
3.12 The key risks at this stage, which are mitigated by early contractor 

involvement include; the risk of finding 'unknowns' in the ground once 
construction commences, planning consent, and ensuring that access, 
egress and traffic movements across and through the site are appropriate 
and well managed.  It should be noted in particular that it will be necessary 
to let the contract for the construction before planning consent has been 
obtained if the timetable for the project is to be met.  The low risk of planning 
not being achieved will be managed by inserting in the construction contract 
an early termination right in those circumstances. 

 
3.13 As part of the Blue Light Project, local stakeholders are being actively 

engaged; this includes the City of Lincoln, local schools and residents. 
 
3.14 The next key milestones in the project are: 
 

 Submit planning application   (March / April 2017) 
 Detailed design     (April – July 2017) 
 Enabling Works     (September 2017) 
 Start on site    (October 2017) 
 Scheme complete   (March 2019) 

 
3.15 An enabling professional services contract has been signed with Willmott 

Dixon which allows the contractor to fully design the property. However a 
Delivery Agreement will be required to allow Willmott Dixon to begin 
enabling construction works and full construction. Approval is sought. 

 
3.16 This report therefore seeks approval in principle to the entering into of the 

Delivery Agreement and delegated authority for the Executive Director of 
Finance and Public Protection to determine the detail of that Agreement. 
This will enable Willmott Dixon to construct the Blue Light Campus on South 
Park Avenue, Lincoln. 

 
3.17 The projected contract sum is set out below: 
 

Cost Plan  

Willmott Dixon Contract 
Sum 

£15,700,000 

Risk Allowance £700,000 

  

South Park Grand Total £16,400,000 

 
 
 At this stage it is possible that there will be some variation to the contract 

sum. This is because the final cost for construction will not be known until 
detailed design is complete – this is why there is a risk pot of £700,000 set 
aside for this project. Corporate Property is proactively working with Wilmott 
Dixon to achieve the Blue Light Campus within the total allocated sum of 
£16.4m. 

 

Page 24



  3.18 As the money to meet the costs of the construction contract are not all in the 
control of the Council the construction contract will not be able to be entered 
into unless the Collaboration Agreement has been concluded describing 
how the County Council is able to recover the contributions of the other 
parties and the PIF Grant to meet the costs of the contract. 

 
 
4 Financial Issues  
 
4.1 When the Executive considered the Blue Light Collaboration programme in 

June 2016 they approved a maximum financial contribution of £2m from the 
Capital Reserve.  Since that Report, more detailed work has been carried 
out on the costings of the Projects.  The original and revised costings are set 
out in the Table below. 

 

Funded By Original Estimate 
£M 

Estimate updated @ 
Nov 2016  
£M 

Police  4.2 7.0 

Lincolnshire 
CC 

2.0 4.8 

EMAS 0.7 0.7 

PIF Grant 6.9 6.9 

TOTAL 13.8 19.4 

 
4.2 As can be seen from the above Table the costs are estimated at £5.6m 

more than the original estimate.  It has been agreed that these additional 
amounts should be equally shared between the Police and the County 
Council and the use of an additional £2.8m from the Capital Reserve has 
been approved by the Executive Director of Finance and Public Protection 
under delegated authority. 

 
4.3 It should be noted that the PIF Grant monies shown in the Table are 

currently required to be spent over the two Financial Years 2016/17 and 
2017/18.  The Police are in discussion with the Home Office to re-profile the 
grant monies over a longer period to reflect the period of the build contract. 

 
 
5  Legal Issues 
 
Equality Act 2010 

Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the Council must, in the exercise of its 
functions, have due regard to the need to: 

*           Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 
that is prohibited by or under the Act 

*           Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it 

Page 25



*           Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

The relevant protected characteristics are age; disability; gender reassignment; 
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation 

Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity involves having 
due regard, in particular, to the need to: 

*           Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic 

*           Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it 

*           Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such 
persons is disproportionately low 

The steps involved in meeting the needs of disabled persons that are different from 
the needs of persons who are not disabled include, in particular, steps to take 
account of disabled persons' disabilities 

Having due regard to the need to foster good relations between persons who share 
a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves having 
due regard, in particular, to the need to tackle prejudice, and promote 
understanding 

Compliance with the duties in section 149 may involve treating some persons more 
favourably than others 

The duty cannot be delegated and must be discharged by the decision-maker.  To 
discharge the statutory duty the decision-maker must analyse all the relevant 
material with the specific statutory obligations in mind.  If a risk of adverse impact is 
identified consideration must be given to measures to avoid that impact as part of 
the decision making process 

An Equality Impact Analysis has not been undertaken in relation to this decision.  
Equality issues are being taken into account in the design of the new building at 
the Blue Light Campus to ensure it is compliant with the Council's legal duties. 

 

 

Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA) and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(JHWS) 

The Council must have regard to the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 
and the Joint Health & Well Being Strategy (JHWS) in coming to a decision 

The collaboration described in this Report  is being pursued in the interests of the 
efficiency and effectiveness of police, fire and ambulance services all of which 
make a critical contribution to the health and wellbeing of the population of 
Lincolnshire. 

 

 

Page 26



Crime and Disorder 

Under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council must exercise its 
various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those 
functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and 
disorder in its area (including anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting 
the local environment), the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in its 
area and re-offending in its area 

 

6  Conclusion
 
6.1 This Report has described the background to and benefits of the proposed 

Blue Light Collaboration Programme between the County Council, the PCC 
and EMAS. 
 

6.2 Approval is sought on the basis of the Report to proceed with a 
Collaboration Agreement to secure the carrying out of the Programme and 
to enter into the construction contract for works at the Blue Light Campus, 
South Park, Lincoln 

 
 

7. Legal Comments: 
 

If the Executive considers that the proposed collaboration is in the interests of the 
efficiency or effectiveness of the services delivered by the Council as Fire and 
Rescue Authority and the other two partners consider the same in relation to their 
services it is required by section 2 of the Policing and Crime Act 2017 to give 
effect to the collaboration. 
 
The Council has power to enter into the construction contract proposed in order to 
give effect to the collaboration. 
 
The decision is consistent with the Policy Framework and within the remit of the 
Executive if it is within the budget. 
 

 
 

8. Resource Comments: 
There is currently a total of £4.8m available in the approved capital programme 
to support the costs of the Blue Light Collaboration Programme as identified in 
this report.  The total amount of funding committed is sufficient to allow the 
letting of the contract as recommended in this report, however, this is 
dependent on the approval of the Collaboration agreement for the elements of 
funding outside of the control of the Council 
 

The proposals in the report are considered to be in the interests of the efficiency 
and effectiveness of police, fire and ambulance services all of which contribute to 
the matters referred to in section 17 

Page 27



9. Consultation 

 
a)  Has Local Member Been Consulted? 

n/a 
 

b)  Has Executive Councillor Been Consulted?  

Yes 

c)  Scrutiny Comments 

The Report will be considered by the Community and Public Safety Scrutiny 
Committee on 1 March 2017 and the comments of the Committee will be 
reported to the Executive 

 

 

 
 

d)  Have Risks and Impact Analysis been carried out? 

See the body of the Report 

e)  Risks and Impact Analysis 

See the body of the Report 
 

 
 
10. Appendices 
 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Site Plan Study 5 

Appendix B Artists Impression of the Blue Light Campus (exterior) 

 
 

11. Background Papers 
 

Document 
 

Where it can be viewed 

Redacted Executive Report "Blue Light 
Collaboration Project" dated 7 June 
2016 

Democratic Services / 
 www.lincolnshire.gov.uk 

 
This report was written by Dave Pennington, Development Programme Manager, 
who can be contacted on 01522 555189 or dave.pennington@lincolnshire.go.uk . 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 28

mailto:dave.pennington@lincolnshire.go.uk


Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Artists Impression of the Blue Light Campus (exterior) 
 

 
 

 

  

P
age 31



 
Appendix B - Artists Impression of the Blue Light Campus (interior / reception) 
 

 
 

P
age 32



 

 
Executive 

 

Open Report on behalf of Tony McArdle, Chief Executive 

 

Report to: Executive 

Date: 07 March 2017 

Subject: 
Council Business Plan 2016 - 2017 Performance 
Report, Quarter Three 

Decision Reference: I012111 

Key decision? No  
 

Summary:  
 
This report presents an overview of performance for Q3 against the Council 
Business Plan. 
 
Executive can view performance on the web in a secure area on the Lincolnshire 
Research Observatory. A link to the relevant area, username and password will 
be emailed to Executive members along with the papers for the meeting.  
 

 

Recommendation(s): 

That Executive:- 
1. Note and consider 2016/2017 Quarter 3 performance.  
2. Approve the proposed changes to reporting as set out in Appendix A of this 

report. 

 

Alternatives Considered: 

1. No alternatives have been considered to recommendation 1 as it reflects 
factual information presented for noting and consideration. 

2. The alternative to recommendation 2 is not to make any changes in 
reporting as recommended in Appendix A and instead to continue to report 
against the measures as published in the Council Business Plan 
2016/2017. However, without the recommended changes, these measures 
are not considered to assist the Executive in obtaining an accurate picture 
of the organisation's performance. 

 

Reasons for Recommendation: 

To provide the Executive with information about Quarter 3 performance against 
the Council Business Plan 2016/2017 and propose changes to reporting to assist 
the Executive in monitoring that performance in future.  

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 6

http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/Login.aspx?redirect=L0NCUC1MYW5kaW5nLXBhZ2UuYXNweA==


 

1. Background 
 
The Council Business Plan 2016/2017 was approved by Council on 19th February 
2016. This report provides the Executive with highlights of Q3 performance. The 
full range of infographics is available to view on this link; a username and 
password will be emailed to all Councillors along with the papers for the meeting. 
Once Q3 performance has been discussed by the Executive and feedback has 
been considered, the performance information will be publicly available on the 
website. In order to assist Elected Members to see areas of performance they may 
be interested in on the website, a table with a link to the relevant web page for 
services within the Council Business Plan is detailed in Appendix B.  
 
Headlines Quarter 3 performance  

Of the 15 commissioning strategies reported in Q3:- 

9 have performed really well (all measures achieved); 
3 have performed well (all but 1 measure achieved);  
3 have mixed performance (some measures achieved and some measures not 
achieved).  
 
The following 2 commissioning strategies are reported annually in Q4:-  

 Readiness for school;  

 Sustaining and developing prosperity through infrastructure.  
 
The good news 
 
The following 9 commissioning strategies have performed really well (all measures 
reported in Q3 were achieved):- 
 
Community Resilience and assets 
Children are safe and healthy        
Learn and achieve  
Protecting and sustaining the environment 
Safeguarding adults 
Wellbeing 
How we effectively target our resources (Combination of 3 commissioning 
strategies)   
 

The following 3 commissioning strategies performed well (all but 1 measure 
reported in Q3 was achieved). 

 Adult Frailty, long term conditions and physical disability 'permanent 
admissions to residential and nursing care homes aged 65+'. The target has not 
been achieved in each quarter this year and in Q3 this is driven by higher than 
expected numbers of older people requiring residential placements. This appears 
to have been caused by discharge pressures in hospitals, and an increase in the 
level of support people are requiring in the community. Work is being undertaken to 
quality assure the placements we are making and the early indication is that we are 
dealing with a higher level of acuity and therefore the placements are fully justified.  

Page 34

http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/Login.aspx?redirect=L0NCUC1MYW5kaW5nLXBhZ2UuYXNweA==
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Communities-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Businesses-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Businesses-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Communities-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Resources-Final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx


 

We are experiencing a higher level of demand for services generally and a similar 
proportion of people are being admitted to care homes as in previous years.  

 Sustaining and growing businesses and the economy 'amount of external 
funding attracted to Lincolnshire'. There is a confidence that we will achieve our 
year-end target of £15m as we have £12.4m contracted to quarter 3 and followed 
by another £17m either at funding agreement or now responding to final appraisal 
queries. Our European Structural and Investment Funds (ESIF) Committee has 
approved the schemes and they will not go through technical appraisals with 
Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG). 

 All measures achieved the target in Quarter 3 for the Specialist Adult 
Services commissioning strategy with the exception of 'adults who received a 
review of their needs' where performance improved in Q3 compared with Q2, 
although performance did not achieve the target. Reviews have picked up within 
quarter 3 and the lead managers have confirmed that the annual target of 95% will 
be achieved by year-end. 
 

Mixed performance (some measures achieving and some measures not achieving 
the target) 

The following 3 commissioning strategies had mixed performance:- 

 Protecting the public however each of the outcomes within this 
commissioning strategy that can be compared with a target in Q3 performed well 
(all but 1 measure reported in Q3 was achieved) with the exception of the outcome 
'reduce fires and their consequences' where all measures achieved the target.  

A summary of measures that are not achieving the target in Q3 for Protecting the 
Public Commissioning Strategy are:- 

I. 'High risk premises visited by Trading Standards'. although visits are slightly 
below target, the service is confident these will be completed by Q4. 

II. 'Reported incidents of domestic abuse'. Year to date, the number of 
domestic abuse incidents reported to the police are 2% lower in 2016/17 
than they were in 2015/16. A plateauing of incidents reported to the police 
was seen for the first time in 2015/2016 and it was therefore not possible to 
determine whether this was going to be replicated in 2016/2017. There have 
not been as many incidents reported to the police as expected this year and 
the reasons why reporting of incidents is not increasing will require a 
considerable amount of analysis and longer term trend data. 

 

 Carers 2 of the 3 measures that can be reported in Quarter 3 have not 
achieved the target:- 

I. 'Carers supported to delay the care and support for the person they care 
for'. Looking back over the 12 months from November 2016, there has been 
an increase in support provided to both the carer and the person cared for.  
This is because an increasing number of carers are being identified from 
their involvement in the support provided to adult clients and therefore the 
care needs of both the client and carer are being considered jointly with a 
holistic package. Although this shows a more considered and rounded 
package, it is at odds with the preventative focus of this measure which 

Page 35

http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Businesses-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Communities-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx


 

seeks to support the carer as early as possible to help sustain the caring 
role and delay the care and support needs of the person they care for. 

II. 'Carers supported in the last 12 months'. There has been a 6% increase in 
the number of carers supported in the last 12 months compared to the 
previous quarter. The aspirational annual target of 8,500 carers is not 
currently being achieved, but the carers service is supporting more and 
more carers, albeit at a slower rate than anticipated. A new provider, 
process change and system change have impacted on the growth. 

 

 Readiness for Adult Life performance has improved for 2 of the measures 
reported in Quarter 3 relating to participation in learning but have not met the target 
as the targets are challenging and were set at the time when 18 year olds were 
required to be tracked and as this is no longer the case, the inclusion of their 
performance represents a distortion of the actual 16 and 17 year old cohorts. In 
addition to this, difficulties are being experienced in gathering the data from the 
independent learning providers who, unlike the schools and colleges, struggle to 
meet the demands of data provision. We know that there are approximately 9% of 
young people in this type of provision which is impacting on our performance. The 
challenging target is unlikely to be met by the end of the year. The measure '16–18 
year old looked after children participating in learning' is just below the target range 
in Q3 and is the first time this year that performance has dipped below the target 
range. The Virtual School Team continues to support our 16-18 year olds through 
electronic Personal Education Plan (ePEP) surgeries for those students attending 
colleges and sixth forms and will continue to monitor participation levels to ensure 
improvement.   

 
Data expected in Quarter 3 but not available  
The Chlamydia diagnoses measure was due to be reported in Q3, however we are 
unable to report performance for this quarter due to data quality issues between 
nationally published information and performance data submitted by our provider. 
This is being investigated through contract management discussions with the 
provider and data is expected to be reported in Q4. 
 
Proposed changes to reporting performance against the Council Business 
Plan 2016/17 
 
Targets for 2016/2017 published in the Council Business Plan in February 2016 
were informed by the latest available performance information at the time of writing 
the plan (2015/2016 Q2), with the following caveats:  
i) The targets are subject to change to reflect:- 

 2015/2016 out turns; 

 Changes in the wider economy;  

 Nature of demand; and 

 Consequences of any service reductions 
ii) The Council Business Plan will be reviewed as part of quarterly performance 
reporting with any proposed changes to reporting agreed by the Executive. 
 
The relevant Executive Councillors have been consulted and recommendations for 
proposed changes to reporting are set out in Appendix A of this report. 

Page 36

http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx


 

2. Legal Issues: 
 
Equality Act 2010 

Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the Council must, in the exercise of its 
functions, have due regard to the need to: 

*           Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 
that is prohibited by or under the Act 

*           Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it 

*           Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

The relevant protected characteristics are age; disability; gender reassignment; 
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation 

Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity involves having 
due regard, in particular, to the need to: 

*           Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic 

*           Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it 

*           Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such 
persons is disproportionately low 

The steps involved in meeting the needs of disabled persons that are different from 
the needs of persons who are not disabled include, in particular, steps to take 
account of disabled persons' disabilities 

Having due regard to the need to foster good relations between persons who share 
a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves having 
due regard, in particular, to the need to tackle prejudice, and promote 
understanding 

Compliance with the duties in section 149 may involve treating some persons more 
favourably than others 

The duty cannot be delegated and must be discharged by the decision-maker.  To 
discharge the statutory duty the decision-maker must analyse all the relevant 
material with the specific statutory obligations in mind.  If a risk of adverse impact is 
identified consideration must be given to measures to avoid that impact as part of 
the decision making process. 

The Report presents performance against the outcomes and measures that are the 
Council Business Plan many of which relate to people with a protected 
characteristic including young people, older people and people with a disability.  It 
is the responsibility of each service when it is considering making a change, 
stopping, or starting a new service to make sure equality considerations are taken 
into account and an equality impact analysis completed. 

 

Page 37



 

Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(JHWS) 

The Council must have regard to the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 
and the Joint Health & Well Being Strategy (JHWS) in coming to a decision 

The Report presents performance against the outcomes and measures that are the 
Council Business Plan many of which relate directly to achievement of health and 
wellbeing objectives.  

Crime and Disorder 

Under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council must exercise its 
various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those 
functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and 
disorder in its area (including anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting 
the local environment), the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in its 
area and re-offending in its area. 

The Report presents performance against the outcomes and measures that are the 
Council Business Plan some of which relate to crime and disorder issues.   

 

3. Conclusion 
 
This report presents an overview of performance for Quarter 3 against the Council 
Business Plan 2016/2017 and proposed changes to reporting to assist the 
Executive in monitoring that performance in future. Executive is invited to consider 
performance and consider and approve the proposed changes to reporting.
 

4. Legal Comments: 
 

The Executive is responsible for ensuring that the Executive functions are 
discharged in accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework of which the 
Business Plan is a part.  This report will assist the Executive in discharging this 
function.  
 
The recommendation is lawful and within the remit of the Executive. 
 

 

5. Resource Comments: 
 

Acceptance of the recommendation in this report has no direct financial 
consequences for the Council. 
 

 
6. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Proposed changes to reporting performance against the Council 
Business Plan 2016/17 

Appendix B Links to performance measures by service area 

Page 38



 

7. Consultation 

 
a)  Has Local Member Been Consulted? 

 N/A 
 

b)  Has Executive Councillor Been Consulted?  

 N/A 

c)  Scrutiny Comments 

This report is due to be considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee at its meeting on 23 February 2017.  Any comments will be presented 
to the Executive as part of its consideration of this item. 

 

 

 
 

d)  Have Risks and Impact Analysis been carried out 

No 

e)  Risks and Impact Analysis 

Any changes to services, policies and projects are subject to an Equality Impact 
Analysis.  The considerations of the contents and subsequent decisions are all 
taken with regard to existing policies. 

 
 

 
 

8. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
 
This report was written by Jasmine Sodhi, who can be contacted on 01522 552124 
or jasmine.sodhi@lincolnshire.gov.uk . 
 

 

Page 39

mailto:jasmine.sodhi@lincolnshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 
 
Proposed changes to reporting performance against the Council Business 
Plan 2016/17 
 
Increase public confidence in how we tackle domestic abuse 
The relevant Executive Councillor has been consulted and recommends that:- 

 The 'Domestic Abuse reoffending' measure is removed from the Council 
Business Plan as the Domestic Abuse Perpetrator Programme (which this 
measure was originally based on) has not been established in the format it 
was originally intended. Therefore the service is unable to report against this 
measure. (Measure 10) 

 Repeat victims of domestic abuse is renamed Repeat referrals of Domestic 
Abuse to MARAC (Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference) as this better 
reflects what is being measured and reported. The definition of the measure 
would remain the same, only the title of the measure would change. (Measure 9) 

 
Alcohol treatment 
In light of recent changes to the national Public Health Outcome Framework (PHOF) 
the relevant Portfolio Holder has been consulted and recommends that the wording 
and definition of the 'People referred for alcohol treatment completing treatment in a 
planned way' (measure 31) is amended. This is because the PHOF now includes, for 
the first time, an indicator relating to "Percentage of alcohol users that left drug 
treatment successfully who do not re-present to treatment within 6 months". In line 
with other council business plan indicators (such as NHS Health Checks and 
Chlamydia rates) this recommended change would align to the wording and 
definition of the PHOF indicator. A target of 40% is proposed for this revised 
measure.  
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Links to performance measures by service area 

Adult Care  
Frailty and long term 
conditions 

http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx 
 

 
Adult Care  
Learning disability, autism, 
mental health 

http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx 
 

 
Adult Care - Safeguarding http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Communities-page-final.aspx 

 

 
Alcohol Treatment http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx 

 

 
Carers http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx 

 

 
Children – looked after 
children 

http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Communities-page-final.aspx 

 

P
age 43

http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Communities-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx


Crime http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Communities-page-final.aspx 
 

 
Domestic Abuse http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Communities-page-final.aspx 

 

 
Early Years http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx 

 

 
Economy http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Businesses-page-final.aspx 

 

 
Educational attainment http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Businesses-page-final.aspx 

 

 
Environment http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Businesses-page-final.aspx 

 

 

P
age 44

http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Communities-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Communities-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Businesses-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Businesses-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Businesses-page-final.aspx


Fires http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Communities-page-final.aspx 
 

 
Heritage http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx 

 

 
Information Governance http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Resources-Final.aspx 

 

 
Libraries http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx 

 

 
Looked After Children http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Communities-page-final.aspx 

 

 
Property http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Resources-Final.aspx 

 

 

P
age 45

http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Communities-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Resources-Final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Communities-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Resources-Final.aspx


Public Health http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx 
 

 
Road Safety http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Communities-page-final.aspx 

 

 
Trading Standards http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Communities-page-final.aspx 

 

 
Voluntary and community 
groups 

http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx 
 

 
Young People  
- supported to reach their 
potential 

http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx 
 

 
 

 

 

P
age 46

http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Communities-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Communities-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/CBP-Wellbeing-page-final.aspx


 

 
Executive 

 

Open Report on behalf of Tony McGinty, Interim Director of Public Health 

 

Report to: Executive 

Date: 07 March 2017 

Subject: 
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health on the 
Health of the People of Lincolnshire 2016  

Decision Reference: I013029 

Key decision? No  
 

Summary:  

The Annual Report on the Health of the People of Lincolnshire from the Director 
of Public Health is an independent statutory report to Lincolnshire County 
Council. The report raises issues of importance to the health of the population 
of Lincolnshire. 

 
 

Recommendation(s): 

Executive is requested to receive the Annual Report on the Health of the People 
of Lincolnshire from the Interim Director of Public Health and consider the 
recommendations included in each chapter. 

 
 

Alternatives Considered: 

1. None 
 

 

Reasons for Recommendation: 

This is a statutory annual report and the Executive is asked to note its 
recommendations. 

 

 
1. Background 
 
It is a statutory duty of the Director of Public Health to produce an annual report on 
the health of the people of the area he/she serves. It is a statutory duty on the local 
authority for that area (in this case the Council) to publish that Report. The report 
attached at Appendix A is the latest report of the Director of Public Health for 
Lincolnshire. The report is not an annual account of the work of the Public Health 
Team, but an independent professional view of the state of the health of the people 

Page 47

Agenda Item 7



 

of Lincolnshire, with recommendations on the action needed by a range of 
organisations and partnerships.  
 
As Interim Director of Public Health this is my first annual description of the state of 
the health of the people of Lincolnshire, and one I have enjoyed working with my 
colleagues to design and compile. 
 
I decided this year to focus on the mental health and mental illness profile of local 
people.  My decision was based on the principle best described as 'no health 
without mental health', which leads us to a definition of mental health as a 
resource, rather than simply a state involving the absence of illness or distress. 
 
Good mental health is a valid goal in and of itself for individuals and communities 
to pursue.  However, it is also a pre-requisite for people to achieve their goals and 
potential in life; to support their ability to make good choices and protect 
themselves from harm.  Many different factors can support or challenge the mental 
health of individuals and communities, and these have more or less of an affect at 
different points in people's lives.  For this reason my report is presented as a series 
of points along the average life-course, highlighting the risks and opportunities to 
mental health at each of these stages of life.  
 
2. Legal Issues: 
 
Equality Act 2010 

Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the Council must, in the exercise of its 
functions, have due regard to the need to: 

*        Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 
that is prohibited by or under the Act. 

*      Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

*      Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

The relevant protected characteristics are age; disability; gender 
reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and 
sexual orientation. 

Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity involves having 
due regard, in particular, to the need to: 

*       Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic. 

*        Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share 
it. 

*     Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by 
such persons is disproportionately low. 

Page 48



 

The steps involved in meeting the needs of disabled persons that are different from 
the needs of persons who are not disabled include, in particular, steps to take 
account of disabled persons' disabilities. 

Having due regard to the need to foster good relations between persons who share 
a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves having 
due regard, in particular, to the need to tackle prejudice, and promote 
understanding. 

Compliance with the duties in section 149 may involve treating some persons more 
favourably than others. 

The duty cannot be delegated and must be discharged by the decision-maker.  To 
discharge the statutory duty the decision-maker must analyse all the relevant 
material with the specific statutory obligations in mind.  If a risk of adverse impact is 
identified consideration must be given to measures to avoid that impact as part of 
the decision making process. 

An Equality Impact Analysis has not been carried out on the annual report.  
However consideration has been given within the report itself to matters relating to 
inequalities and how these impact on the mental health of the population. 

 

Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(JHWS) 

The Council must have regard to the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 
and the Joint Health & Well Being Strategy (JHWS) in coming to a decision 

This report is an independent professional view of the state of the health of the 
people of Lincolnshire by the Interim Director of Public Health. It has, therefore, 
drawn from a wide range of evidence including, but not limited to, the JSNA. 

 

Crime and Disorder 

Under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council must exercise its 
various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those 
functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and 
disorder in its area (including anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting 
the local environment), the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in its 
area and re-offending in its area. 

 

3. Conclusion 
 
The statutory annual report of the Interim Director of Public Health on the Health of 
the People of Lincolnshire has now been prepared and the Executive is asked to 
receive and note the recommendations included in each chapter.

The report covers a number of risk factors and impacts that mental health can have 
on the health of the people of Lincolnshire and this includes the impact that mental 
health can have on perpetrators and victims of crime.  

Page 49



 

4. Legal Comments: 
 

Under section 73B of the National Health Service Act 2006, the Director of Public 
Health must prepare a report on the health of the people of the area and the 
Council must publish that report. 
 
Consideration of the report prior to its publication is within the remit of the 
Executive. 
 

 

5. Resource Comments: 
 

In 2016/17, Lincolnshire County Council's Public Health Grant allocation was 
£34.371m. 
 
The Public Health Grant is for activities whose main or primary purpose is to 
improve the public health of local populations as described in Appendix A and as 
per the conditions of the grant which are described in Local Authority Circular 
LAC(DH)(2016).   
 

 
 
6. Consultation 

 
a)  Has Local Member Been Consulted? 

n/a 
 

b)  Has Executive Councillor Been Consulted?  

n/a 

c)  Scrutiny Comments 

This report has not yet been considered by a Scrutiny Committee. 
 

 

 
 

d)  Have Risks and Impact Analysis been carried out?? 

No 

e)  Risks and Impact Analysis 

None 
 

 
7. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Annual Report of the Director of Public Health on the Health of 
the People of Lincolnshire 2016. 

 
  

Page 50



 

8. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
 
 
 
This report was written by Tony McGinty, who can be contacted on 554229 or 
tony.mcginty@lincolnshire.gov.uk . 

Page 51

mailto:tony.mcginty@lincolnshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Annual Report of the Director of 
Public Health on the health of the 
people of Lincolnshire 2016

Page 53



Welcome to this Annual Report of the Director of Public 
Health for Lincolnshire.  As Interim Director of Public 
Health this is my first ever annual description of the state 
of the health of the people of Lincolnshire, and one I have 
enjoyed working with my colleagues to design and com-
pile.

I decided this year to focus on the mental health and men-
tal illness profile of local people.  My decision was based on 
the principle best described as ‘no health without mental 
health’, which leads us to a definition of mental health as a 
resource, rather than simply a state involving the absence 
of illness or distress.

Good mental health is a valid goal in and of itself for indi-
viduals and communities to pursue.  However, it is also a 
prerequisite for people to achieve their goals and potential 
in life; to support their ability to make good choices and 
protect themselves from harm.  Many different factors can 
support or challenge the mental health of individuals and 
communities, and these have more or less effect at different 
points in people’s lives. For this reason my report is pre-
sented as a series of points along the average life-course, 
highlighting the risks and opportunities to mental health 
at each of these stages of life.

Introduction
These are summarised in the table below and described 
more fully in each of the chapters presented.

I commend the report and its recommendations to the 
reader, and hope the reading will encourage you to think 
about your own mental health and that of those around 
you.  For those of you who have a wider sphere of influence 
I trust that you will work with me to:

• applaud the things in Lincolnshire that already sup-
port mental health;

• reflect on the things that we could do more of, or be 
better at;

• ensure that we adjust what we do to make it as easy as 
possible for those of us whose mental health is chal-
lenged to get the best out of life.

Figure 1: Mental health across the life-course – a framework for the ADPHR 2016/17

Tony McGinty
Interim Director of Public Health

2

Page 54



Progress against last year’s recommendations 
Executive Summary
Chapter 1: Risk factors: What influences our mental health?
Chapter 2: Perinatal and maternal mental health conditions
Chapter 3: Childhood and adolescent mental health conditions
Chapter 4: Adult and older adult mental health conditions
Chapter 5: Recommendations
Glossary
References 

4

7

16

20

8

25

30

31

32

Contents

3

Page 55



Progress against last year’s recommendations

Recommendations Update
Data and Intelligence

1. Mechanisms for collecting more comprehensive data on 
liver disease should be explored. For example, investigat-
ing whether liver disease can be recorded in primary care 
data.

The Lincolnshire liver disease strategy group will look into 
the feasibility of liver disease being recorded in primary 
care data.

2. Lincolnshire organisations should play an active role 
in the East Midlands Liver Programme Group, which is 
led by Public Health England’s East Midlands Centre. This 
will help in learning from our regional partners about best 
practice in addressing liver disease.

A multi-agency, high level Lincolnshire liver disease strat-
egy group has been set up to develop a county-wide liver 
disease strategy, which is working very closely with Public 
Health England.

Awareness
3. National campaigns aimed at increasing the awareness 
of liver disease should be supported locally.

The launch of the Public Health England One You cam-
paign, which is promoted locally, has encouraged over 
4,700 people in Lincolnshire to engage with the campaign, 
either by completing the ‘How Are You’ self-assessment 
tool and/or downloading an associated support app (Oct 
16).    From this cohort, 21.9% of these people were not 
achieving the recommended levels of physical activity, 
12.1% were smokers, 5.6% were drinking over the alcohol 
recommendations and 3.2% were not meeting the healthy 
eating recommendations for optimal health.
Lincolnshire County Council has begun engaging with 
partners across the county via the locality health and well-
being networks, JSNA expert panels, events, various media 
channels and via the newly formed Health Improvement 
Partnership. As a result of the partnership we are able 
to form a collaborative response to national campaigns 
and are able to effectively utilise partners’ communica-
tion channels. Commissioned services, and other willing 
organisations, are being encouraged to co-brand with One 
You to increase consistency and awareness of the initiative.

4. There is a need for stakeholders to work jointly to raise 
awareness of links between obesity, excessive alcohol con-
sumption and liver disease amongst the local population, 
particularly in areas with high rates of liver disease-related 
hospital admissions.

5. There is a need to work with Health Education England 
to improve the awareness of health professionals on the 
causes of, and treatments for, liver disease, as well as the 
importance of early detection.

Liver disease is taught in medical curriculum.

Early Detection and Treatment
6. Stakeholders should work together to facilitate early 
identification of risk factors for Liver disease through con-
tinued action to improve the participation of individuals 
in NHS Health Checks, at a GP and county level.

NHS Health Checks, which is primarily a vascular disease 
screening programme, has successfully recruited eligible 
people to engage with the Health Checks programme:
(Source – NHS Health Checks Annual Report 2015-16)

7. Health checks are a potential intervention point for 
those at risk of liver disease. It must be ensured that indi-
viduals, who are identified as having relevant risk factors 
are followed up in general practice, provided appropriate 
onward referral or, where referral is no longer available, 
provided a brief intervention by their GP practice (e.g. 
advice on dietary improvement and/or weight-loss).

NHS Health 
Check

England East Mid-
lands

Lincoln-
shire

Offered (Invited) 56.4% 54.4% 60.8%
Received (Up-
take)

48.4% 53.8% 57.3%

In the 2015 Annual Report, the then Director of Public Health made a series of recommendations. I would like to use this 
opportunity to provide an update on progress against these.  I am aware that a wide range of organisations are involved in 
leading and supporting the implementation of the recommendations and this report is intended to provide information 
on some of this work rather than a comprehensive overview.  

4

Page 56



Recommendations Update
In terms of identifying overweight and obese adults within 
the Health Checks, the programme has identified more 
than 16,000 people as overweight (BMI 25+) and 6,500 as 
obese (BMI 30+) in Lincolnshire.
Only 445 adults were referred to some form of weight 
management intervention (6.8% of the obese population 
referred on to services).  This referral to weight manage-
ment indicator is a low number and is being investigated 
further.
Despite this low activity, GP based support and brief 
intervention is being documented (currently on an ad-hoc 
basis).

8. Hepatitis B screening for migrant populations should 
be improved through local measures, for example primary 
care registrations and new-registrant screening for new 
migrants from medium and high prevalence countries.

The Public Health Immunisation Programme Officer will 
be tasked to investigate methods of promotion and target-
ing of HepB immunisations.
Lincolnshire Integrated Sexual Health Services (LISH) 
already conducts thorough screening. This service sees 
many of the relevant target population and will monitor 
uptake of HepB immunisations within their services. This 
work will be supported through education and outreach 
work provided by Positive Health and The Terrence Hig-
gins Trust, both significant partners within LISH. A new 
JSNA around HIV prevention for publication in 2016 will 
reference the need to utilise MECC and signpost to liver 
disease reduction measures.
Newly commissioned substance misuse treatment services 
offer Hepatitis B vaccination and Hepatitis C screening, 
including pre and post-test counselling, to all those access-
ing services. Onward referrals are made for further test-
ing and treatment as necessary and anyone who declines 
screening has the offer repeated at intervals throughout 
their recovery journey.

9. The uptake of Hepatitis B vaccination by individuals at 
high risk of exposure to the disease should be increased.
10. Rates of diagnostic testing for Hepatitis C should be 
increased among individuals at high risk of the disease, in 
order to detect disease early and to commence treatment.

11. The specialist alcohol and substance misuse services 
should support people to reduce problematic alcohol 
consumption. This should include links with hospitals to 
identify and support people who might benefit from such 
specialist support.

Specialist substance misuse services provide individually 
structured support to everyone who accesses services; 
this includes harm minimisation advice and a personal 
recovery plan. The provider also offers Identification and 
Brief Advice training as well as a specialist hospital liaison 
service which is currently under development and will be 
available from February 2017.

12. The alcohol treatment services within local authority 
commissioning of substance misuse services should be of 
high quality and outcome based.

During 2016 re-commissioning of all specialist treatment 
services was undertaken by the local authority and a new 
contract commenced with Addaction in October 2016. 
This new service realises efficiency savings and provides 
Lincolnshire with a flexible, outcome based service to 
meet the current need and future changes in substance 
misuse trends. The new contract has a total of thirty out-
comes spread over seven separate domains which are:
• Freedom from dependence on drugs or alcohol
• Improvement in mental and physical wellbeing
• Prevention of substance misuse related deaths and 

blood borne viruses
• A reduction in crime and re-offending
• Sustained employment
• Improved relationships with family members, part-

ners and friends
• Improved capacity to be an effective caring parent

5

Page 57



Recommendations Update
Strategy and Policy

13. The Health and Wellbeing Board should take lead-
ership in prevention, early identification and treatment 
of liver disease, as recommended by the Chief Medical 
Officer.

The Health and Wellbeing Board has included outcomes 
relating to prevention, early identification and treatment 
of liver disease within its Joint Health and Wellbeing Strat-
egy for Lincolnshire and they receive annual assurance 
reports relating to the progress of the strategy.

14. Lincolnshire organisations should advocate for evi-
dence based national policies to reduce excessive alcohol 
consumption, for example health and wellbeing to become 
a 5th licensing objective.

The Public Health Division is actively involved with Public 
Health England policy reviews and regional forums. It is 
anticipated that a new substance misuse strategy includ-
ing initiatives for alcohol will be released in February 2017 
alongside new clinical guidelines for treatment services.

15. Lincolnshire organisations should advocate for gov-
ernmental regulations to reduce sugar and saturated fat 
content in food and drink that are informed by evidence, 
for example Public Health England recommended policy 
actions to reduce sugar intake.

This has become a national policy agenda with plans to 
implement a “sugar tax” on fizzy drinks. Little local advo-
cacy or regulation has been undertaken.

16. A multi-agency obesity and overweight reductions 
strategy should be developed.

Obesity reduction forms a key part of the prevention 
programme that has been developed as part of the Lin-
colnshire Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP).  
This is an all age strategy, although there is recognition 
that forming healthy life long habits are best begun dur-
ing childhood.  Therefore a multi-agency strategic action 
plan to reduce obesity in children through actions across 
health and social care, business and education is currently 
in development.   A new model of children’s health ser-
vices due to be implemented in Lincolnshire in 2017 has 
elements known to promote healthy weight in childhood 
such as breastfeeding, a healthy start to eating and physical 
activity at its heart.

17. There is a need to continue to integrate public health 
across local authority departments to ensure public health 
is considered in areas such as planning and licensing, for 
example, using local planning powers to support play and 
active travel.

A public health consultant has been allocated to work 
closely with each of the Council’s Executive Director areas 
of service.  They are tasked with supporting the delivery of 
the service areas’ objectives, seek integration and influence 
these service areas to achieve maximum health gain.

18. There is a need to explore innovative legislative, plan-
ning and environmental actions to improve the health of 
the local population, for example learning from ‘Reducing 
the Strength’ in Ipswich and Brighton’s ‘Sugar Smart City’ 
policy.

Lincolnshire Chamber of Commerce has been commis-
sioned to establish Pubwatch schemes in all towns within 
the county in order to reduce anti-social behaviour (ASB) 
by driving those who cause problems in alcohol out of the 
night time economy. Pubwatch was also set up raise the 
standards of the bars within the scheme. 

In Boston a Community Alcohol Partnership has been set 
up in order to tackle underage drinking including point 
of sale through test purchasing activity and training for 
off-licenses, prevention education and investing in diver-
sionary activities for young people in the local community.

In Spalding and Lincoln a Public Space Protection Order 
has been set up in the town centre to prevent street drink-
ing in parks and the town centres in order to reduce ASB 
related to alcohol.

6

Page 58



Good mental health is the cornerstone of the achieve-
ment of other life goals, and ultimately has an effect on 
the choices and opportunities people make about every 
aspect of their lives. In the pressure of day to day life, and 
the sometimes more urgent demands on local people and 
services the focus on good mental health as a resource is 
easily overlooked.  It is for this reason that this Director of 
Public Health (DPH) Annual Report focuses entirely on 
mental health and illness in Lincolnshire.

In focusing on mental health and illness, this report is 
even more topical at publication than it was at inception, 
with the Prime Minister identifying the need for new en-
ergy in public services around mental health and illness.
For some time now there has been focus in national and 
local policy on the comparatively low investment in men-
tal illness services, through a focus on parity of esteem 
with physical conditions for example.

The need to have mental health crisis managed in a 
seamless fashion has also been a focus of development, 
with the development of local ‘Crisis Concordats’ and the 
service developments arising from them.

This report uses national and local data alongside re-
search to set out what we know about mental ill-health 
in Lincolnshire, describing the scale of the problem, the 
risk-factors associated with mental ill-health, and the 
services in Lincolnshire that seek to prevent and treat 
ill-health. A ‘life-course’ approach has been used, focus-
sing on specific populations grouped by age in order to 
understand how the influences on our mental wellbeing 
can change as time passes. 

Mental Ill-Health in Lincolnshire
Mental ill-health is more common than many people 
think. Recent national research tells us that “1 in 4 adults 
will be diagnosed with a common mental disorder (such 
as depression or anxiety) during their lifetime”1. Many 
more may struggle with these issues without seeking help 
or meeting the threshold for a clinical diagnosis. We esti-
mate that at any one time over 100,000 people aged 16+ in 
Lincolnshire are living with a diagnosed common mental 
disorder2.

Of course, mental illnesses can be of varying severity, but 
for some the outcomes are tragic; we know that between 
2011 and 2013 there were over 2,400 emergency hospital 
admissions for self-harm in Lincolnshire, and that every 
year since 1999 there have been at least 60 deaths in Lin-
colnshire from suicide. 

For more than half of the estimated 100,000 adults in Lin-
colnshire with a common disorder, it is expected that their 
condition would have begun before the age of 14 years. 

Nationally, 1 in 10 children and young people aged 5 to 
16 have a clinical diagnosis relating to mental ill-health3. 
Improving and protecting the mental health of children 
and young people is thus crucial for ensuring a healthy, 
happy population across all ages.

Summary Statistics – Mental Ill-Health in Lincolnshire
• It has been estimated that over 3,000 Lincolnshire 

women per year have mental health problems during 
pregnancy and after childbirth2;

• Over 9% of Lincolnshire’s children aged 5 to 16 are 
estimated to have a diagnosed condition, similar to 
national rates. The national Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health Intelligence Network estimate over 
9,000 children in Lincolnshire have a mental health 
disorder2;

• Over 100,000 adults in Lincolnshire are estimated to 
have a diagnosed common mental disorder, such as 
depression or anxiety2;

• Every year since 1999 there have been at least 60 
deaths from suicide in Lincolnshire2

The Economic Cost of Mental Ill-Health
Nationally, mental ill-health has been estimated to cost 
the economy over £70bn per year4. “In Lincolnshire, the 
estimated cost to the economy of mental ill-health equates 
to at least £230m per year”5. In addition to the burden of 
population ill-health, there is a clear economic mandate to 
ensure people in Lincolnshire are helped to be as mentally 
healthy as possible.

Risk Factors
Although at an individual level anyone can suffer from 
poor mental health, across a population we are able to 
identify some factors which increase the risk of mental ill-
health for some population groups. The start that babies 
in Lincolnshire get in life is crucial; we know that babies 
born into loving, supportive families tend to have better 
mental health as they grow up6. For children, the family 
environment is fundamental, and as they grow up the 
influence of peers and the school environment grow; and 
the potential for issues that damage mental health, such as 
bullying, grows. 

As we all know, any child or adult can have good days and 
bad days when it comes to their mental wellbeing, but 
research tells us that negative life experiences; unemploy-
ment, grief and struggling to get by  can vastly increase 
stress and affect our mental health7. These risk factors can 
‘accumulate,’ especially in the lives of those at the margins 
of society, meaning that there is a known link between 
socio-economic deprivation and mental ill-health. These 
inequalities can be addressed through a combination of 
targeted and universal services that meet the population’s 
health needs.

Executive Summary

7

Page 59



What Influences our Mental Health?
Our mental health, like our physical health, is something 
that can change throughout our lives; it is not a static state 
and can be influenced for improvement or deterioration 
at any time. Sometimes we have excellent mental health, 
and sometimes our mental health isn’t so good. Research 
tells us that 1 in 4 people will experience a mental health 
problem at some point in their life and, at any one time, 1 
in 6 adults have a common mental disorder. Our mental 
health is fundamental to our health in general, both influ-
encing our physical health and being influenced by it8. 

Many different factors and circumstances affect how we 
think, how we feel, and our general level of wellbeing. 
Some of these factors relate to our environment, some to 
our social circumstances and some are individual char-
acteristics. This chapter will take a closer look at these 
factors, emphasising both the risk factors that can under-
mine our mental health as well as the protective factors 
that can improve our wellbeing. In order to do this we will 
use a ‘life-course’ approach, where we will examine the 
factors that influence the mental health and development 
of young children, through school-age years and then into 
adolescence, working age and then eventually finishing 
with the factors that can influence the mental health of 
adults.

Birth and Early Years
The emotional and relational environment into which a 
baby is born has a fundamental effect on their neurologi-
cal development. Put simply, a baby who receives positive, 
loving care and affection from the adults caring for them 
will develop with significant neurological differences from 
a child who experiences prolonged exposure to severe 
stress9 10.The development of a baby’s brain and nerv-
ous system has been said to depend ‘as much on human 
relationship as it does on nutrition’8. Positive and secure 
attachment between baby and caregiver also results in 
healthy and positive emotional and social development, 
and can predict mental wellbeing and ill-health in adult-
hood8 11 12 13. Thus early childhood experiences can have a 
significant impact on mental health and wellbeing in later 
life.

Parental mental health can also be an important factor 
in the lives of young children. We know that parenting 
behaviour can have a real effect on the emotional and 
behavioural development of children14 and that maternal 
distress can influence cognitive, social and emotional 
development15. Importantly, scientific studies have shown 
that children of mothers who experience depression show 
greater vulnerability to anxiety, depressive and conduct 

disorders16. So the environment we are raised in influ-
ences the degree to which we are vulnerable to mental 
ill-health from the beginning of our lives; conversely, it 
follows that children, who are raised in loving and sup-
portive environments, may have less of these risk factors 
and perhaps a lower degree of vulnerability to mental 
ill-health as they grow.

Children and Young People
Mental Health Surveys of children and young people in 
Great Britain have found that 1 in 10 children and young 
people under the age of 16 have a diagnosable mental dis-
order17. At this age, the family and parenting environment 
is still of primary importance, and the primary predictor 
of these diagnosable mental disorders remains parenting 
and the quality of the parent-child relationship8.  
Nonetheless, during the school years the child or young 
person’s experience at school becomes a huge influence on 
their mental wellbeing. 

Bullying
Children who have been victims of bullying have been 
consistently found to be at greater risk of being diagnosed 

Chapter 1 Risk factors: What influences our 
mental health?

Two Babies; Very Different Worlds
Imagine two babies born in Lincolnshire this year. 
The first baby is born into an environment where she 
gets loving care from her mum. Like any baby, she gets 
distressed and cries when she’s hungry, needs changing, 
or is bored and wanting to play. But whenever she cries, 
someone is there to make it better. As she grows and 
develops she starts to trust that whenever she needs 
help, she will get it; a loving adult will help and the 
problem will go away. 

And then we have another child, born into a situation 
where those around her aren’t willing or able to help 
in the same way. If the lack of love and care is extreme, 
research tells us that clear developmental differences 
will be seen in the baby’s brain. Importantly, we can’t 
say that this means that the child will grow to have 
a mental illness, but it means that the risk of this is 
higher. Insecure attachment has been shown to predict 
depression, anxiety, and other mental health problems. 
This underlines the importance of providing the best 
start we can for babies and young children in Lincoln-
shire. When, as parents and carers, we are looking after 
our children in a positive and loving manner we are 
helping to improve their wellbeing and reduce their 
risk of mental ill-health in the future. 

8

Page 60



with depression or anxiety disorder at some stage before 
the age of 5018 and being bullied has been linked to suici-
dality19.Having excellent schools that prevent bullying and 
help children to develop to their full potential is funda-
mental to protecting and improving the mental health of 
children and young people.

Children and Young People with Learning Disabilities
We also know that children and young people with learn-
ing disabilities are more likely to experience mental health 
problems20. In Lincolnshire, a rough estimate would be 
that there are approximately 2,400 children and young 
people with a learning disability, of whom approximately 
1,000 might be expected to suffer from a mental health 
problem, based on the size of the population in Lincoln-
shire2. 

Looked-after Children
Children who are looked-after by the local authority are 
another group who have a greater risk of mental ill-health 
than the wider population. In fact, evidence tells us that 
looked-after children are approximately 5 times more 
likely than their peers to have a diagnosis of a psychiatric 
condition21.The most common reasons for children being 
taken into care are abuse or neglect, and it is known that 
children in these situations can experience significant 
trauma, and that this trauma can be linked to mental 
illness during childhood and in later years22.

Adverse Childhood Experiences
Negative experiences in childhood can have an impact on 
all of us in later life. If those negative experiences are trau-
matic, it is understandable that this can be related to men-
tal illness. Research tells us that adverse childhood expe-
riences such as neglect or ‘maternal antipathy’ are linked 
to self-harm23.We also know that those children with 
extremely negative experiences, such as homelessness and 
drug use, are likely to be depressed and also vulnerable to 
physical diseases such as AIDS and viral hepatitis24; 67% 
of rough sleepers aged 16 to 25 were found to have mental 
health issues in one study25. 

Adolescence
Moving from childhood into adulthood is a challenging 
time for all young people, where physical, social and emo-
tional changes combine with the pressures of teenage life 
and the need to establish an identity as an independent 
adult. During this time, the influence of a young person’s 
parents on their life diminishes (but remains important) 
and the influence of peers increases. In recent surveys of 
young people in the UK, mental & emotional health and 
wellbeing are consistently identified as priorities26 27.Ado-
lescence is a time where all young people can experiment 
with different interests and behaviours, and where a de-
gree of anxiety and confusion can be expected. However, 
it is known that a majority of adults with a diagnosable 
mental health condition identify that these conditions had 

9

Page 61



their genesis in childhood and adolescence3. Furthermore, 
in some cases, this can include experiments with alcohol, 
drugs and sex which come with their own distinct risks to 
mental and physical health.

Environmental Risk Factors – Mental Health and the 
Built Environment
For all of us, the environment we live in can have a 
profound effect on our mental health. Evidence suggests 
that a range of features of the built environment have an 
impact.

The impact of the built environment on our mental 
health and wellbeing
Place and space have an impact on health and wellbeing. 
What’s more, individual actions to improve lifestyle or 
health and wellbeing status are likely to be influenced 
by the context in which they take place; to put it simply, 
someone who has access to safe outside space may find it 
a lot easier to go out for a walk than someone who does 
not. When we think of the health impact of the built 
environment, we need to consider not only the physical 
structures in and around which we live our lives, but also 
the open space, networks and connectivity (such as roads, 
footpaths and cycle paths) between these places. We need 
to consider the places where people work, live, play and 
socialise. All of these shape the social, economic and en-
vironmental conditions in which we live our lives. These 
determinants of health are depicted in Figure 2 below.

Figure 2: The determinants of health and wellbeing in our 
neighbourhoods.
Diagram by Barton, H & Grant, M, 2006, derived from 
Whitehead, M & Dahlgren, G, The determinants of 
health and wellbeing, 1991.

What features of the built environment affect health 
and wellbeing?
In order to understand how the world around us can 
influence our mental health and wellbeing, it helps to 
unpick how this effect can operate. In a June 2011 report 
(‘Steps to Healthy Planning: Proposals for Action’), the 
Spatial Planning and Health Group (SPAHG) suggested 
that several specific features of the built environment have 
an impact on both physical and mental health:
• the location, density and mix of land uses
• street layout and connectivity
• access to public services, employment, local fresh 

food and other services
• safety and security

A Tale of Two Teens
Risk factors for mental health often correlate strongly 
with socio-economic deprivation, but this is only true 
across a population; when we look at people, we find 
unique individuals, not populations. It isn’t possible 
to make assumptions about who will suffer from poor 
mental health and who won’t. Imagine a young person 
who has been through the care system; all of the avail-
able data tells us that this young person has a much 
greater risk of poor educational outcomes, of interact-
ing with the criminal justice system, and of being out of 
work. But this young person, let’s call her Aisha, despite 
the trauma related to the abuse that she’s suffered, finds 
support from her social worker, her foster carers, and 
from a teacher at school who takes a special interest 
in her. This teacher starts lending her books, and she 
develops an interest in writing. She passes her Eng-
lish exams, and decides to stay in education after she’s 
16. Despite the challenges of her upbringing, she gets 
excellent results and wins a scholarship to a top univer-
sity. 

And then we have another teen, let’s call him Ben. 
Ben is raised in an affluent household in Lincoln, and 
attends a top school. He is sporty, confident, and has 
a wide circle of friends. Both of his parents work and 
are high-flyers in their own careers. Ben is expected 
to do well in his exams; he has few of the risk-factors 
associated with developing a mental illness. But depres-
sion and anxiety are there beneath the exterior, as they 
are for many of us, and he feels increasingly isolated. 
Confused and unsure of where to turn, he experiments 
with substance abuse and starts to feel like his life is 
spinning out of control. It’s not hard to see how, if he 
doesn’t get the support he needs, this fairly normal 
‘low point’ for Ben could deepen, and eventually, if he 
sought help, he could be diagnosed with a common 
mental disorder, such as depression. For some young 
people in Lincolnshire, we know that this path ends in 
self-harm or even suicide. The importance of schools, 
parents, social workers, the health service and all of us 
working together to prevent such an outcome is clear. 
For some young people in Lincolnshire, the stakes 
couldn’t be higher.

10

Page 62



• open and green space
• affordable and energy efficient housing
• air quality and noise
• extreme weather events and a changing climate
• community interaction
• transport and car dependency

It’s important to note that these features of the built envi-
ronment can have both a positive and negative impact on 
our mental health, and could thus be either a protective 
factor or a risk factor for mental illness. The places in 
which we live can make a real difference to how we feel, 
think and live our lives.

How does the built environment influence our health?
To help identify how the built environment influences our 
health (both physical and mental); we will consider some 
specific ways in which this happens.

Social networks, communities and isolation
The influence of social networks, our friends, colleagues 
and those we have a positive health connection with is an 
area of growing interest. Fewer social networks may be 
associated with a number of health outcomes including 
mental health problems28. Some neighbourhood designs 
enable or encourage community connections, whereas 
others do not. Neighbourhood designs most likely to 
promote social networks are those that are mixed use 
and pedestrian-oriented, enabling residents to perform 
daily activities without the use of a car29. Studies have 
shown that as traffic volumes increase, people’s sense of 
neighbourliness decrease. In residential streets, people on 
‘light traffic use’ streets considered the whole street to be 
their territory and reported more social networks than 
those living on ‘heavy traffic use’ streets30. The availability 
of parks and civic spaces also increases the potential for 
social interaction and community activities31.

The evidence shows that cohesive communities foster 
better mental health through the creation of neighbour-
hoods and communities that are in control, and that pull 
together to shape the world around them. Evidence also 
shows that fostering and supporting social action, social 
inclusion and volunteering can improve wellbeing.

Local community groups, such as local voluntary groups, 
peer support services, user led self-help groups, mentor-
ing and befriending etc., enable participants to be both 
providers and recipients of support. This allows members 
of a community to play an active role in their own wellbe-
ing and that of their community32.

Loneliness is a growing problem amongst older people. 
It is associated with poor health outcomes, specifically 
higher blood pressure, depression and higher rates of 
mortality comparable to those associated with smoking 
and alcohol33. Neighbourhoods that make it difficult for 
cohesive communities to form could increase isolation 

and loneliness; this can be a problem for those in rural 
areas, where distance can make it harder to visit friends 
and colleagues.

Long commuting times can also impact on mental health, 
family life and social networks, with people having less 
time for engagement in the lives of their communities34.

Housing design and space
Adequate provision of space has also been linked to health 
outcomes. An association has been found between poor 
mental health and lack of space within the home as well as 
lack of social space for interaction inside and outside the 
home.28 Multi-occupation dwellings and flats, particu-
larly high rise flats, are the types of housing most strongly 
associated with poor mental health35.

Housing quality
Good housing is known to have a beneficial impact on 
maintaining mental health in general. Having secured 
and settled accommodation, together with the right type 
of support, can have a positive impact on people’s lives. 
However, people with mental health problems are par-
ticularly likely to have poor and/or insecure housing and 
compared with the general population are four times 
more likely to say that their health has been worsened by 
their housing. Mental ill-health is common among people 
who experience homelessness and rough sleepers.

Based on an extensive literature review, and with input 
from expert environmental health practitioners, the Char-
tered Institute of Environmental Health (CIEH) produced 
a ‘Health and Housing Resource’ to provide evidence, 
case studies and guidance to enhance local understanding 
of the relationship between the home environment and 
health. The evidence for the mental health and wellbeing 
impacts of housing, especially poor housing conditions, 
is less developed than that supporting physical health 
impacts. However, there is some evidence of pathways 
that might link poor housing conditions to mental health 
outcomes. For example, living in poor housing conditions 
has been shown to increase stress, and reduce empower-
ment and control. Homelessness, lack of security of tenure 
and the fear of retaliatory eviction by landlords if tenants 
complain contribute to an individual’s mental health and 
wellbeing. See table 1 for a breakdown of how the link be-
tween poor housing and poor mental health can operate.

Interventions that improve housing conditions have 
been shown to result in improvements on mental health 
measures, including reduced anxiety or depression, psy-
chological distress, and improved patient reported health 
score36. Providing a warm home has been clearly shown to 
benefit both the young and old in relation to their feeling 
of wellbeing as well as reducing the physical risks that can 
arise from cold homes37.
 

11

Page 63



Table 1: Hazards and their mental health and wellbeing 
effects

Hazard Mental health and 
wellbeing effect

Vulnerable 
groups

General 
Substandard 
Housing 

Mental health – anxi-
ety, depression ;
Socio-emotional 
development; Disrup-
tion to education and 
impact on academic 
achievement. 

25 years or 
less

Damp and 
Mould Growth 

Depression and 
anxiety; 
Feeling of Shame.

14 years or 
less

Excess Cold Depression and 
anxiety;
Slower physical 
growth and cogni-
tive development in 
children

65 years plus

Lead Continual exposure 
at low levels has 
been shown to cause 
impaired cognitive 
development and 
behavioural problems 
in children. 

Under 3 years

Crowding and-
Space 

Psychological distress and mental 
disorders;
Reduction of tolerance;
A reduction of the ability to concen-
trate; Disruption to education and 
impact on academic achievement;
Stress tension and sometimes family 
break-up; Lack of privacy. 

Entry by In-
truders

Fear of crime;
Stress and anguish. 

Lighting Depression and psychological effects 
caused by a lack of natural light or the 
lack of a window with a view. 

Noise Stress responses;
Sleep disorders;
Lack of concentration;
Anxiety and irritability. 

Domestic Hy-
giene, Pests and 
Refuse 

Emotional distress. 

Personal 
Hygiene, 
Sanitation and 
Drainage 

Feeling of shame. 

Light
Levels of illumination, particularly the amount of daylight 
exposure, can impact on psychological wellbeing. An 

association has been found between depression and lack 
of adequate daylight38. 

Green space
Green space can help us have better mental wellbeing. 
There is evidence of preventive, physical, mental and so-
cial benefits of engagement with the natural environment 
for people suffering from mental illness and dementia. 
Less greenspace in a living environment is associated with 
greater risk of anxiety, depression, and feelings of lone-
liness and perceived shortage of social support. Contact 
with nature is linked with improved mood, and reduced 
stress and anxiety39.

Natural England has developed an Accessible Natural 
Greenspace Standard (ANGSt) which provides local 
authorities with a detailed guide as to what constitutes 
accessible green space. The Accessible Natural Greens-
pace Standard not only recommends the distance people 
should live from certain types of green spaces but also 
recommends the size of the green spaces in conjunction 
with distance to homes. All people should have accessible 
natural green space:

• Of at least two hectares in size, no more than 300m 
(five minutes’ walk) from home.

• At least one accessible 20 hectare site within 2km of 
home.

• One accessible 100 hectare site within 5km of home.
• One accessible 500 hectare site within 10km of home.

A study from MIND comparing groups taking part in 
two walks in contrasting environments, a country park 
compared to a shopping centre found that the group in 
the country park reported significant improvement in 
self-esteem, depression, anger, tension, confusion, fatigue 
compared to the group walking in the shopping centre40.

Lincolnshire – ambitious for growth
Lincolnshire is a great place to live, and we know that 
the population is likely to grow in the future. In terms 
of the environment, Lincolnshire is a large, mainly rural 
county with many sparsely populated areas. The districts 
are characterised by market towns, villages and hamlets. 
The city of Lincoln is the largest urban centre but it is still 
small in comparison to other regional centres in the East 
Midlands, such as Leicester and Nottingham. 

We know how important it is that there is enough housing 
in Lincolnshire for the growing population. New Local 
Plans with ambitious but realistic housing growth targets 
are being prepared across Lincolnshire to set out local 
planning policies in light of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF). It is expected that large parts of this 
growth will be accommodated in new communities built 
on to existing urban conurbations, known as Sustainable 
Urban Extension (SUEs). 

12

Page 64



This new national planning framework, the NPPF, refers 
to a healthy community as a good place to grow up and 
grow old in – something that we want to ensure is the case 
across Lincolnshire. To help ensure Lincolnshire’s new 
communities are healthy, we can use research from else-
where in the country to guide us as to how best to plan for 
this growth – see ‘Learning from Cambourne’s Story’.

Rural Isolation
We know that lots of issues, which have the potential to 
result in poor mental health, are experienced by people 
living in rural areas, where distances can increase the 
chances of social isolation and compound the effects of 
poor-quality housing. There are recurring themes in the 
literature, which are applicable to rural settings as well as 
urban, suburban and market towns in terms of housing 
quality, social networks, car dependency, overcrowd-
ing, etc.28

Social Circumstances 
We’ve seen how risk and protective factors for mental 
illness work across infancy, childhood and adolescence. 
We’ve considered how the environment, especially the 
built environment in which we live our lives, can influ-
ence our mental wellbeing. It’s also important to con-
sider the ways in which our circumstances throughout 
adulthood can affect our mental health, especially when 
seeking to understand how to best help those most at risk 
of self-harm and suicide.

We know that certain population subgroups are more 
likely to experience mental ill-health or attempt suicide. It’s 
also clear that specific risk factors, or vulnerabilities, may 
operate in isolation or interact within individuals to further 
increase risk. For example, for an individual and amongst a 
population, unemployment can lead to lack of self-esteem, 
poor quality housing, and an increase in socio-economic 
deprivation. We will look at some risk factors in turn, start-
ing with this – socio-economic deprivation.

i) Deprivation 
We know that adults living in the most deprived areas are 
at a higher risk of poor mental health, as are their chil-
dren41. Overall, Lincolnshire is less deprived than many 
areas in England, ranking 90th out of 152 local authorities 
in England, where 1st is the most deprivedxxxv. How-
ever, like any county in England, there are areas that are 
relatively much more deprived than others. We know that 
there are approximately 50,000 people living in areas in 
Lincolnshire that rank amongst the most deprived 10% in 
the country42.

ii) Homelessness 
People who are homeless are more than twice as likely to 
have a common mental health problem than people in 
the general population, and between 4 and 15 times more 
likely to have a psychosis. Serious mental illness is often 
accompanied by alcohol or substance misuse problems, 
and research suggests that between 10 and 20% of home-
less people may suffer from such a dependency43. 
We know that in 2014-15 across Lincolnshire 646 peo-
ple were accepted for housing support who identified 
as homeless. Over a third of these were in Lincoln and 
almost a further third in South Kesteven. The numbers of 
those living with insecure or unstable housing is far high-
er; in 2014-15, Lincolnshire managed 3,320 cases where a 
household was in danger of becoming homeless but this 
was avoided44. 

iii) Debts & Financial Problems
We can all worry about money at times, but people, who 
are really struggling, such as those with multiple debts, 
perhaps at high levels of interest, can experience mental 
and physical health problems as a result. For example, 
people with five or more separate debts are six times 
more likely to have a mental illness, and we know that 
difficulty repaying debt is a significant risk factor for 
suicide45.
 
iv) Unemployment 
We know that those in employment are at a lower risk of 
both mental and physical ill-health than those who are 
unemployed. However, in order to be protective of health, 
employment needs to be ‘good’ employment. This has 
been defined as work that offers a living wage, is sustaina-
ble, has opportunities for development and advancement, 
protection from adverse working conditions and allows a 
balance between work and family life46. Although un-
employment in Lincolnshire is lower than the national 
average,  across the county there are pockets of long-term 
unemployment and there are places, especially on the east 
coast, that have a high degree of seasonal employment 
– which in many cases cannot offer the security, sustain-
ability, wages and work-life balance to protect health. 
Furthermore, unemployment among younger adults 
(aged 18-24 years) is higher than the national average in 
Lincolnshire. Lincolnshire also has a higher proportion 
of people not in work who are on long-term sick leave 

Learning from Cambourne’s Story
South Cambridgeshire has a number of existing and 
planned new communities. Research on one of these, 
Cambourne, found that early residents in these new 
communities had higher than average mental health 
problems. This was attributed to a lack of facilities in 
the new community (so-called ‘new town blues’). The 
Clinical Commissioning Group and County Council 
produced a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment on new 
housing developments and the built environment. The 
local planning authority’s Health Impact Assessment 
Supplementary Planning Document was a response to 
these findings. It is recommended that similar guid-
ance is produced and adopted across Lincolnshire with 
plans progressing for central Lincolnshire in the first 
instance.

13

Page 65



compared with the East Midlands and England (26% 
compared to 23% and 22% respectively).47 

v) Substance Misuse 
Substance use (alcohol and drugs) and mental health 
problems often coexist, with a complex relationship 
existing between substance misuse and mental health. It 
is clear that substance use is a risk factor for the onset of 
mental health problems48, and dependency on these sub-
stances can cause a wide range of mental and behavioural 
disorders. It is also true to say that people with mental 
health problems may use substances to manage their 
symptoms, for example to self-medicate the symptoms of 
depression or anxiety. However, substance use can also 
exacerbate these symptoms and may interact with medi-
cations used to treat conditions such as mood stabilisers 
and anti-depressants. 

vi) Loneliness and Social Isolation 
It is estimated that between 5% and 16% of over 65 year 
olds nationally have reported loneliness, while 12% 
reported social isolation.1 Both loneliness and social iso-
lation can negatively impact on health and wellbeing, with 
high blood pressure and depression being closely associat-
ed amongst those who are lonely or who feel isolated.
 
Whilst there is no current data to identify loneliness or 

social isolation in Lincolnshire, we can provide a rough 
estimate using given national rates. Of the 159,953 over 65 
year old residents living in Lincolnshire, we can estimate 
that between 8,000 (5%) and 25,500 (16%) are lonely, with 
a further 19,200 who feel isolated2.

Groups at a Specific Risk of Suicide
In Lincolnshire, between 2011 and 2013 there were 184 
deaths due to suicide. Although it is not always possible to 
identify specific people at a higher risk of suicide, we do 
know that there are certain population sub-groups who 
have a higher risk of completing suicide. We will examine 
some of these groups in turn2.

1. People in Institutional Care or Custody 
We know that certain groups have a higher risk of com-
pleting suicide than others, and this is certainly true for 
people in institutional care or custody, the rate of suicide 
and self-harm is much greater in the prison population 
that the general population. We also know that there 
are high levels of self-harm and suicide among detained 
asylum seekers, even when compared with the UK prison 
population49. 

2. People with Post-natal Depression 
Suicide is the leading cause of death amongst new moth-
ers in England. Key risk factors for maternal suicide in-

14

Page 66



cluded severe onset of mental illness soon after childbirth, 
being an older mother and being relatively privileged in 
terms of social circumstances; which is important as it 
means that in this instance, it isn’t necessarily people from 
more socio-economically deprived backgrounds who are 
most at risk50. 

3.  People of Sexual Minorities 
Lesbian, gay, bisexual and trans-gender (LGBT) people 
are at higher risk of suicidal behaviour, mental disorder 
and substance misuse and dependence than heterosexual 
people. This may be linked to experiences of homophobic 
discrimination and bullying, especially during the vulner-
able adolescent years51. This is a large population across 
all ages, ethnicities and social groups, numbering (if 
estimates of 5-7% of the population are accurate) between 
36,575 and 51,205 people who self-identify as LGBT in 
Lincolnshire. 

4. Veterans 
Young men who leave the armed forces can be 2-3 times 
more likely to complete suicide than members of the 
general population, which is especially important in 
Lincolnshire as there are a large number of armed forces 
and ex-armed forces personnel in the county. Although it 
is also important to note that men aged 30-49 years who 
leave the armed forces have a lower risk of suicide than in 
the general population52. 

5. Students at University and College 
Students make up approximately 3% of the Lincolnshire 
population (about 23,000 people). In the past 12-months 
there have been three suicides in the student population 
in Lincolnshire, ii which represents a higher rate than in 
the general population. In recent years the University of 
Lincoln has reported an increasing number of students 
seeking support for mental health and complex mental 
health needs through the University’s Student Wellbeing 
and Mental Health Service. 

6. People Bereaved by Suicide 
Research suggests that there is an increased risk of suicide 
in mothers bereaved by the suicide of an adult child, and 
in partner’s who have been bereaved by suicide. There is 
also a higher risk of a range of other mental health issues 
for people bereaved by suicide53. It is important to ensure 
mental health services are able to support those people 
who are bereaved by suicide, in order to help to reduce the 
future burden of mental ill-health and suicide mortality. 

7.  People who Have Self-harmed 
Self-harm is something that has a high degree of stigma 
attached to it. It is considered to be shameful, something 
that people don’t like to talk about. We know that there is 
an increased risk of suicide following self-harm episodes, 
and this could be as high as a 30-fold increased risk of sui-
cide compared with the general population54. Suicide rates 
have been found to be especially high in the six months 

after a self-harm episode, suggesting that early interven-
tion after an episode of self-harm may be important to 
reduce the risk of suicide54.

Summary: Interaction of Risk Factors
“Sorrows come not in single spies, but in battalions” -  
William Shakespeare
This overview of the risk factors for poor mental health 
in childhood and adolescence highlights the complexity 
of the influences on our mental health. Put simply, there 
is clear evidence linking negative experiences throughout 
childhood and adolescence with a higher risk of mental 
ill-health. In adulthood, the built environment and the 
circumstances of our lives can influence our mental and 
our physical health. Unfortunately, these risk factors are 
not always evenly distributed throughout the population, 
specific people and groups of people can experience many 
of these risk factors at the same time. Specifically, we 
know that many of these risk factors can affect those in 
the most deprived groups; the unemployed, for example, 
who perhaps live in the areas of Lincolnshire with the 
lowest-cost housing and consequently have the highest 
degree of exposure to environmental risk factors.

Summary: Risk Factor or Protective Factor?
When considering how to improve the health of the 
population, it can seem daunting when we consider the 
wide range of risk factors that can influence our mental 
health, but intuitively this makes sense. We know that 
fundamentally, life can affect us negatively. For some, this 
may simply affect their sense of wellbeing. For others, 
it may coincide with the onset of a mental illness. But it 
is also critical to see these factors as potential protective 
factors. If we can improve the level of good employment 
in Lincolnshire, or increase the degree to which our 
communities are cohesive, or positively influence any of 
these risk factors, we will be potentially helping to protect 
the mental health of the population of Lincolnshire. With 
the wide range of factors that can influence our mental 
health, there are correspondingly a wide range of actions 
we can take to improve our health. The challenge for us is 
to ensure we take the actions that help the most.

Recommendations
Policy statements and actions to inform place based 
health proprieties that give:
• clear reference and commitment to access to green 

space in development and regeneration policies for 
Lincolnshire neighbourhoods.

• clear reference and commitment to community space 
availability, both safe informal spaces like pubs and 
seating areas and buildings where communities can 
come together in more organised groups.

15

Page 67



Definition of the Problem
Mental health problems that affect women during preg-
nancy and the postnatal period (defined as up to one year 
after childbirth) are known as perinatal mental health 
conditions.  Mental health problems occurring during the 
perinatal period can range from symptoms which do not 
meet the threshold for clinical diagnosis (subthreshold) to 
severe mental illness.

Women going through pregnancy and childbirth can 
experience the same mental health problems as the general 
population but it is particularly important to address them 
during this period.  The mental health of the mother has 
a far reaching effect on the foetus, baby, the wider family 
and mother’s long term health.  Problems are not always 
disclosed, recognised or treated during this period, making 
general awareness, normalisation of the problem and assess-
ment by professionals at each contact extremely important.
  
Depression and anxiety are the most common mental 
health problems experienced during the perinatal pe-
riod55.Additionally, women with existing mental health 
problems can be at increased risk; for example, women 
with a history of bipolar disorder are at increased risk of 
relapse in the postnatal period. 

The health of a baby is crucially affected by the mental 
health and wellbeing of its mother and wider family. Ma-
ternal mental health problems can affect the quality of the 
mother-baby relationship, which is necessary for secure 
attachment and good development of the child. In babies 
and toddlers, healthy social and emotional development 
is essential to prevent behavioural problems and mental 
illness later in life and support educational attainment. 
It is recognised that some fathers have mental health 
problems during this period that may have similar effects 
upon the whole family, but in measuring the scale of the 
problem, most studies refer to women only.

The individual and societal cost of mental health prob-
lems in young families are reflected in economic analysis. 
The average cost to society of one case of perinatal depres-
sion is £74,000, of which £23,000 relates to the mother 
and £51,000 relates to the impact on the child.  This is 
likely to roughly double for each episode of perinatal 
psychosis56.

What is the Size of the Problem for Lincolnshire?
“It is estimated that between 10% and 20% of women are 
affected by mental health problems at some point during 
pregnancy or the first year after childbirth57.”

Based on the number of women giving birth each year in 
Lincolnshire, we would estimate the following numbers 
of women to suffer a diagnosed mental health problem in 
the perinatal period.  Please see glossary for definitions of 
each mental health condition mentioned in the table. 
These estimates are based on national estimates of the 
conditions and have been rounded up to the nearest five. 
They do not take into account differences in population 
groups or anything else which is likely to cause local var-
iation.  Without local data, we cannot detect differences 
between smaller geographical areas or groups within Lin-
colnshire.  Therefore it is useful to consider this informa-
tion alongside the chapter on risk factors to understand 
which groups may be more vulnerable to perinatal mental 
health problems. 

Table 2: Estimated number of Lincolnshire women with 
mental health problems during pregnancy and after child-
birth (2015)58 59

Diagnosed mental health 
condition

Estimated number of 
women affected

Postpartum psychosis 16
Chronic serious mental 
illness (SMI)

16

Severe depressive illness 234
Mild-moderate depressive 
illness and anxiety 

Between 781 – 1,171

Post  traumatic stress dis-
order (PTSD)

234

Adjustment disorders and 
distress 

Between 1,171 – 2,342

N.B. Adding all these estimates together will not give an overall estimate of the 
number of women with each mental health condition, as some women may 
suffer with more than one condition. 

Chapter 2 Perinatal and maternal mental 
health conditions

NICE defines attachment as:
“A secure relationship with a main caregiver, usually a 
parent, allowing a baby or child to grow and develop 
physically, emotionally and intellectually. Babies and chil-
dren need to feel safe, protected and nurtured by caregiv-
ers who identify and respond appropriately to their needs. 
Unmet attachment needs may lead to social, behavioural 
or emotional difficulties, which can affect the child’s physi-
cal and emotional development and learning.” 
NICE. Looked-after children and young people. NICE 
guidelines (PH28). London: National Institute for 
Health and Clinical Excellence, 2010. Available from:  
www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph28

16

Page 68



Suicide risk
Whilst there is no local data available for Lincolnshire, 
the latest report from Mothers and Babies: Reducing Risk 
through Audits and Confidential Enquiries (MBRRACE) 
Saving Lives, Improving Mothers’ Care (2015)60 reported 
that between 2011-13, almost a quarter of women who 
died between six weeks and one year after pregnancy in 
the UK died from mental-health related causes, and that 1 
in 7 of these died by suicide. 

The care of more than 100 women, who died by suicide 
during pregnancy, or in the year after giving birth, be-
tween 2009 and 2013, was reviewed in detail.  The report 
warns that although severe maternal mental illness is 
uncommon, it can develop very quickly in women after 
birth; the woman, her family and mainstream men-
tal health services may not recognise this or move fast 
enough to take action.

The care for women with substance misuse problems and 
those living socially complex lives was also reviewed. The 
messages for future care echoed those for women with 
mental health problems, including the need for joined up 
multi-agency care to ensure that these women do not fall 
through the cracks between services. 

Attachment disorder
Secure attachment forms the building block of good men-
tal health and wellbeing for both mother and baby and is 
essential for children’s healthy development.  The presence 
of mental health problems, even low level anxiety and 
depression (which may go undetected) can interfere with 
good parent-child bonding.  

There is no reliable data available on parent-baby attach-
ment, but it is important to consider the risk factors that 
can lead to attachment problems.  These are discussed 
below and throughout the other chapters in this report. 

Domestic violence and abuse
There appears to be a link between domestic violence and 
antenatal depression, postnatal depression, anxiety and 
post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), although it is not 
clear whether domestic violence actually causes mental 
health problems or simply that the two often go hand in 
hand because people are more vulnerable61. Although we 
cannot say that it causes maternal mental health prob-
lems, domestic violence in groups within our population 
are likely to predict higher levels of perinatal mental 
health problems.  Pregnancy is known to be a potential 
trigger. Almost one in three women, who suffered domes-
tic abuse during their lifetime, report that the first inci-
dence of violence happened while they were pregnant62.
Living in a household with domestic violence is also a risk 
factor for poor mental health in babies and toddlers63.

Lincolnshire does have slightly lower levels of reported 
domestic violence; 14.1 incidents per 1,000 population 
compared to 16.1 for the East Midlands and 15.6 national-
ly. Offering adequate support for parents suffering domes-
tic abuse is a good opportunity to prevent further mental 
health problems within the family.  

Poor social support
Women who lack social support have been found to be 
at increased risk of antenatal and postnatal depression64.  
Having a poor relationship with a partner is also a risk 
factor for postnatal depression7. The number of births 
which were registered by the mother alone may give an 
indication of the number of mother and babies who lack 
the support of the father during transition to parenthood. 
In Lincolnshire in 2014, there were 425 sole registrations 
(5.5% of all births, which is similar to the England average 
of 5.4%).

Parents with a drug and alcohol problem
Those with mental health problems are more likely to 
misuse drugs and alcohol and vice versa. Within Lincoln-
shire, the number of pregnant women entering treatment 
services for drug and/or alcohol misuse is low, with year-
end figures reducing from 20 in 2014/15 to 9 in 2015/16.  
When shown as a proportion of all women in treatment, 
the latest figures throughout 2015/16 show 1.8% of wom-
en in treatment were pregnant at the start of treatment, 

Figure 3: Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder in Lincolnshire

Who is most at risk of perinatal mental health condi-
tions in Lincolnshire?

17

Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder

Page 69



which is lower than the 2.4% seen nationally.  This shows 
a decrease on the 3.9% of women who were pregnant at 
the start of treatment during 2014/15, when the Lincoln-
shire rate rose higher than the national average of 2.3%65.

Table 3: Percentage of women in Lincolnshire who were 
recorded as pregnant at the start of treatment 65

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16
Total females in treat-
ment

498 514 500

Females pregnant 10 20 9
% pregnant 2.0% 3.9% 1.8%
England average 2.3% 2.3% 2.4%

It should be noted that these figures only include those 
women who started a new treatment journey between the 
1st April and 31st March of the respective year and will 
not include any that still remain in their existing course of 
treatment for over a year.

Teenage parents
Pregnancy in under-18 year olds is linked to poorer 
health and social outcomes for both the mother and child; 
for example, lower educational attainment, emotional and 
behavioural problems, maltreatment or harm, and illness, 
accidents and injuries66.The vulnerability of young parents 
can make them more susceptible to many of the risk 
factors for mental health problems that have already been 
described. Teenage mothers are more at risk of developing 
postnatal depression than average67. Lincolnshire teenage 
pregnancy rates have fallen rapidly in recent years, from 
50.1 to 22.4 per 1,000 births in 2014 and remain similar to 
the England average68.  

Family homelessness
454 families in Lincolnshire containing children or a 
pregnant woman were homeless in 2014/1569. Babies and 
toddlers that live in families that are homeless are vul-
nerable to poor social and emotional wellbeing and even 
developmental function70.As described in the National So-
ciety for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children (NSPCC) 
report ‘An unstable start’, providing high quality care 
can be extremely difficult for parents who are homeless, 

18

Page 70



notwithstanding the additional stress that impacts on the 
mother-child relationship. The Lincolnshire rate (1.4 per 
1,000 households) is slightly higher than the East Mid-
lands average (1.3 per 1,000), but lower than the England 
average (1.8 per 1,000)44.  

What do we have that works well for Lincolnshire peo-
ple?
Assets & protective factors
Informal support networks such as family, friends and 
groups such as mother and baby or toddler groups, are 
invaluable in supporting people through the transition to 
parenthood and managing with the demands of family 
life.  Accessing these is likely to have a positive effect on 
mental wellbeing and resilience, although it is acknowl-
edged that some groups within the population, such as 
young parents, those in isolated rural areas, with low 
incomes, parents with disabilities and long term condi-
tions, may need additional support to access these.  The 
new 0-19 children’s health services (public health nursing) 
include an antenatal education programme, open to all 
women, which are hoped to help develop peer networks 
for support.

Lincolnshire benefits from a large network of children 
centres that support children and families.  Early Help 
Workers deliver a range of evidenced based programmes 
addressing home conditions, budgeting or parenting to 
help the family prepare practically and emotionally for 
the birth, one to one at home or in a group. For pregnant 
teenagers there is a Young Expectant Parent (YEP) pro-
gramme, supported by the use of virtual babies.  Learning 
from the Family Nurse Partnership programme is being 
embedded in the new services to support families with 
children aged 0-19 years, with enhanced support planned 
for young and vulnerable parents.   

Services
All contacts with pregnant women include assessment 
of mental health in accordance with NICE guidance.55  
Women have access to the same psychological therapies as 
the general population through self-referral, or via their 
GP or other health professional, in addition to specialist 
perinatal mental health services. The Perinatal Mental 
Health Services (PERIMNS) provides assessment, support 
and treatment for childbearing women with, or at risk of, 
serious mental illness who cannot be managed effectively 
by primary care or other mental health services, as well as 
advice and assistance to other professionals on the treat-
ment and management of serious perinatal mental illness.

Additional targeted services such as ‘Birth after thoughts’ 
(Lincoln based) support women who have had a service 
difficult or traumatic delivery, and a United Lincolnshire 
Hospitals Trust (ULHT) service which works with fam-
ilies in the event of a miscarriage/stillbirth or neo-natal 
death.

Where are the gaps?
We know the number of women, who are treated for se-
vere post-natal depression, but we lack information on the 
number of women who suffer from ‘lower’ level post-na-
tal depression and the ability to separate out those who 
seek and go on to get help and those who may not get the 
support they need. 

Recommendations
• Women should continue to be assessed for mental 

health problems at every contact with a health profes-
sional and throughout a child’s early years.  

• Low level support should be maximised through 
upskilling of Health Visitors and developing peer sup-
port networks, meaning that a lower number of wom-
en will need onward referral to specialist services. 

• All professionals who come into contact with wom-
en during the ante and postnatal periods should ask 
about substance misuse, especially in women with 
known mental health problems, and refer on for addi-
tional support where needed.

• Evidence based support for low level or undiagnosed 
mental health problems should be made available 
through early years’ pathways to improve maternal 
and child mental health.  

• Data to find out the level of need should be collected 
through local surveys and/or by professionals who 
come into contact with pregnant women and young 
families. 

• Women and families should be signposted to infor-
mal support where appropriate and awareness of the 
common nature of mental health problems should 
be raised in all groups who work with families and 
young children.

19

Page 71



Definition of the Problem
Common mental health problems affecting children 
and young people include conduct disorders, anxiety, 
depression and hyperkinetic disorder (severe attention 
deficit hyperactivity disorder often known as ADHD).  A 
national survey published in 200417 reported that “one 
in ten children and young people (10%) aged 5–16 have 
a clinically diagnosed mental disorder: 4% an emotional 
disorder (anxiety or depression); 6% a conduct disorder; 
2% a hyperkinetic disorder, and 1% a less common disor-
der (including autism, tics, eating disorders and selective 
mutism). Some children (2%) had more than one type of 
disorder.”  The rates rise sharply in mid to late teens, with 
the type of disorder becoming more similar to those seen 
in adults.

Children and young people with mental health problems 
represent some of our most vulnerable people.  Emotion-
al and behavioural problems in early life are predictors 
of poor outcomes in later years, and can lead to mental 
health problems. Over half of all mental ill-health starts 
before the age of 14 years, and 75% have developed by the 
age of 18 years71.  

The costs to society of treating mental health problems are 
high. A recent report conducted by the London School 
of Economics found that for young people aged 12–15 at 
baseline assessment, mental health-related costs over the 
following three years averaged £1,778 per individual per 
year; 90% of this cost fell to the education sector, with the 
remaining cost divided between health and social care.  
Fewer young people with mental health problems were in 
employment and training; more were in receipt of benefits 
and/or in contact with the criminal justice system than 
their counterparts without mental health problems72. 

The costs to individuals are high in terms of reduced life 
chances. Young people with mental health problems have 
worse physical health, their educational and work pros-
pects and their chances of committing a crime and even 
the length of their life are reduced73. Among young people 
aged 11–16, those with an emotional disorder are more 
likely to smoke, drink and use drugs than other children.1 

Of great concern is the rise in the number of children and 
young people identified with a mental health problem in 
recent years. Reported rates of “depression and anxiety 
among teenagers have increased by 70% in the past 25 
years74, the proportion of 15/16 year olds reporting that 
they frequently feel anxious or depressed has doubled in 
the last 30 years (from 1 in 30 to 2 in 30 for boys and 1 in 
10 to 2 in 10 for girls)75, emergency department presenta-

tions due to self-harm by those aged 17 and under have 
risen by 30% since 2003-04”76. Young Minds, a UK charity 
committed to improving the emotional wellbeing and 
mental health of children and young people identifies the 
following threats to children and young people’s mental 
health77: 

• Family breakdown is widespread
• There is so much pressure to have access to money, 

the perfect body and lifestyle
• Materialist culture heavily influences young people 
• 24 hour social networking and what young people can 

access from a young age can have a negative impact 
on their mental health and wellbeing

• Body image is a source of much distress for many 
young people

• Bullying on and offline is rife
• Increasing sexual pressures and early sexualisation 

throw young people into an adult world they don’t 
understand 

• Violence is rife in many communities and fear of 
crime a constant source of distress for thousands of 
young people

• Schools are getting more and more like exam facto-
ries; university entry has become more competitive 
and expensive

• 13% of 16-24 year olds are not in employment, educa-
tion or training (NEET)

What is the size of the problem for Lincolnshire?
Estimates of mental health problems in children and 
young people in Lincolnshire is taken from national sur-
veys undertaken in 1999 and 200417, since there is no local 
data available. 

Public Health England Children’s and Young People’s 
Mental Health and Wellbeing profiling tool calculates 
local estimates of prevalence for 2014.  Some key findings 
for Lincolnshire are: 

• The estimated prevalence of any mental health disor-
der: % GP registered population aged 5-16 is 9.3% for 
England, with East Midlands and Lincoln marginally 
higher at 9.4%.  The range across the county shows 
Boston and Lincoln highest at 10.2% and North Kes-
teven lowest at 8.6%. 

Chapter 3 Childhood and adolescent mental 
health conditions

20

Page 72



Graph 1: Estimated prevalence of disorders in Lincolnshire 
children aged 5-16 years (2014)

• Child admissions for mental health: rate per 100,000 
aged 0-17 years for England is 87.4, East Midlands 
is lower at 83.3. Lincolnshire is moderately higher at 
94.8.  

• The emotional wellbeing of looked after children: 
average score for England is 13.9, East Midlands 
and Lincolnshire slightly higher with 15.5 and 15.3 
respectively.

The National Child and Maternal Health Intelligence 
Network’s CAMHS Needs Assessment estimates that in 
Lincolnshire in 2014-15: 

• 3,410 children aged 5-10 years and 5,325 children 
aged 11-16 years have mental health disorders

• 2,210 children aged 5-10 years and 3,075 children 
aged 11-16 years have a conduct disorder, (e.g. awk-
ward, troublesome, aggressive and antisocial behav-
iours)

• 1,050 children aged 5-10 years and 2,360 children 
aged 11-16 years have an emotional disorder. (e.g. 
anxiety and depression)

• 750 children aged 5-10 years and 670 children aged 
11-16 years have a hyperkinetic disorder, (involving 
inattention and over activity)  

• 565 children aged 5-10 years and 575 children aged 
11-16 years have a less common disorder, (e.g. Autis-
tic Spectrum Disorder and multiple disorders)

The total number of referrals to Lincolnshire Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) between 
April 2015 and March 2016 was 4,427.  This number 
does not represent single individual cases but includes 
some individuals with more than one condition requir-
ing CAMHS intervention, or repeat referrals during the 
year.  It is important to remember that a large proportion 
of children and young people with mental health needs 
will have been seen in universal services provided by 
practitioners who are not mental health specialists (e.g. 
GPs, health visitors, or school nurses); only those requir-
ing more specialist support may have been referred to 
CAHMS. 

Suicide is the leading cause of death in young people 
nationally.  In Lincolnshire there were 4 confirmed cases 
of suicide and 2 suspected cases of suicide between Sep-
tember 2011 and January 2014 amongst under-eighteens.  
Risk factors include being male (up to three times more 
males than females complete suicide), previous self-harm 
and mental health problems78. Young people who com-
plete suicide are less likely to be in contact with mental 
health services compared with adults (14% vs 26%).  We 
also know that young men, who are more likely to com-
plete suicide, are less likely to be in contact with mental 
health services than young women78.  

In Lincolnshire, the number of hospital admissions as a 
result of self-harm in people ages 10-24 years in 2014/15 
was 500, giving a rate that is similar to the national 
average79. A Healthwatch survey of 1,251 young people 
in Lincolnshire identified that 20.5% (n=257) have never 
self-harmed80. Reasons for self-harm included being bul-
lied (40.2%), anxiety/hopelessness (46.7%), difficulties at 
school/college (52.1%), family problems (58.7%), depres-
sion (61.8%) and loneliness/isolation (38.2%). Almost 
two-fifths of young carers stated that they self-harm.

Figure 4: Autism in Lincolnshire

Which children and young people are most likely to 
suffer with mental health problems? 

Individual reasons for mental health problems in child-
hood are likely to be complex. However, we are able to 
identify those groups at highest risk81 82 83 84. 

21

Page 73



• Children and young people with learning disabilities
• Looked after children
• Homeless children and those sleeping rough
• Children who are being or have been bullied
 
In addition to these groups, children living with parents 
who misuse drugs and alcohol are adversely affected 
both physically and mentally85. There were 149 parents 
living with their children and receiving drug treatment in 
Lincolnshire during 2012/13 and 207 in alcohol treat-
ment86;there are also likely to be parents in Lincolnshire 
who misuse drugs and alcohol but are not in treatment.

Service use 
Local provider data on the reasons for presenting to 
Lincolnshire CAMHS at tier 2 and tier 3 in 2013-14 show 
that the three most common presenting conditions were 
anxiety, depression and low mood (33%), behavioural 
problems (22%) and self-harm (17%). This does not con-
sider those young people who may have been supported 
in tier 1 services or whose mental health problems have 
not been referred to services. 

What do we have that works well for Lincolnshire peo-
ple?
Assets & protective factors
The Department of Health report, Future in Mind states 
that “if we are to have the greatest chance of influencing 
the determinants of health and wellbeing, we should 

focus efforts on actions to improve the quality of care 
for children and families.  We should start by making 
efforts to ensure a safe and healthy pregnancy, a nurtur-
ing childhood and support for families in providing such 
circumstances in which to bring up children.”  The new 
Lincolnshire 0-19 service model wholly supports this by 
emphasising support from the antenatal period onwards, 
through transition to school and the teen years where 
needed.  New locally based interventions and support 
delivered by Health Visiting teams are based on evidence 
for a strong link between parental (particularly maternal) 
mental health and children’s mental health.  These inter-
ventions are known to offer better outcomes not only for 
the mother, but also across their children’s lifetime87.

Early help teams provide a team approach to supporting 
children and young people alongside their family, adopt-
ing an early intervention approach with a single route into 
other services where needed. 

Many schools in Lincolnshire have already developed 
a whole school approach to promoting resilience and 
improving emotional wellbeing, preventing mental health 
problems from arising and offering early support where 
they do. Evidence shows88 that interventions taking a 
whole school approach to wellbeing have a positive im-
pact in relation to physical health and mental wellbeing 
outcomes, for example, body mass index (BMI), tobacco 
use and being bullied.

22

Page 74



Services
Lincolnshire Child and Adolescent Mental Health Servic-
es (CAMHS) underwent a complete review and remod-
elling in 2016. A new delivery model has been developed 
and an additional £1.4 million for delivery was secured 
through transformation funds from April 2016.

Key improvements to the service include: 

• Improved access to services, reducing waiting times 
from 12 to 6 weeks, with even shorter waiting times 
for certain vulnerable groups (4 weeks for looked after 
children and 3 weeks for young people under the care 
of Youth Offending Services).

• Removal of tiers and discrete teams which can lead to 
silo working.

• A Single Point of Access (SPA).
• Support to other children’s ‘universal’ services, includ-

ing:
• a professional advice line,
• consultation clinics,
• a full programme of training for staff working in 

universal services, 
• the development of self-help psychosocial educa-

tion materials, 
• development of a directory of the local CAMH 

Services and other potential services that may be 
beneficial to the young person.

• An integrated CAMHS provision delivering evi-
denced based pathways with a wider range of inter-
ventions offered and focused on outcomes; known as 
Core CAMHS.  

• Extended opening hours into the evening.
• Access to crisis intervention and home treatment 24 

hours a day, 7 days a week, aiming to avoid admis-
sion to hospital where possible. This includes rapid 
assessment where there is thought to be a possibility 
of life threatening harm to self or harm to others and 
follow-up after assessment for self-harm at A&E.

• A community based eating disorder service known as 
CAMHS EDS. 

• Support to vulnerable groups including young people 
with a learning disability.

• Care and support through transition to adult services.

Figure 5: Illustration of the CAMHS pathway in Lincoln-
shire

In addition to these local services jointly commissioned 
by the Local Authority and Clinical Commissioning 
Groups, NHS England is responsible for commissioning 
specialised mental health services, including specialised 
eating disorder services, secure mental health services, 
specialised mental health services for the deaf, gender 
identity services, perinatal mental health services and 
other specialised mental health services (such as severe 
obsessive compulsive disorder and body dysmorphic 
disorder service).

Where are the gaps?
Often the presence of other problems, such as sensory 
impairment or behavioural problems, can make it more 
difficult to detect mental health problems in children and 
young people. Behaviour that challenges often presents 
a problem for parents and the professionals trying to 
support them. The new Behaviour Outreach Support 
Services (BOSS) aims to bridge this gap, taking a joined 
up approach to supporting the needs of children with 
challenging behaviour, working alongside universal health 
programmes, early help services and specialist health 
services.

The Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 
recently identified the following gaps: 

Skills of universal children’s services workforce: children 
and young people’s mental health ‘system’ is much broader 
than specialist CAMHS services, encompassing support 
offered by GPs, schools, community health centres and 
local hospitals.  The role of universal staff such as teachers, 
youth workers, GPs, social workers and NHS staff needs 
to be acknowledged and supported through joint train-
ing, helping to foster shared culture and values.  Future in 
Mind called for joint training to be provided for teachers 
and CAMHS staff, and further training of universal staff 
e.g. teachers in techniques such as mental health first 
aid.  In partnership with LSCB, LPFT is delivering mul-
ti-agency mental health training, specifically in regards to 
children and young people to universal services, including 
education.

Transition to Adult Mental Health: given that mental 
health problems often emerge in late adolescence, for 
those young people who are accessing mental health sup-
port, it is imperative that they receive continuity of care. 
If young people lose touch with services or have their care 
disrupted at a crucial point, there is a risk that this could 
have a significant impact on their future health and well-
being.  Lincolnshire services are working together to de-
velop effective transition protocols, ensure that transition 
takes place at a time that is right for the young person. 

Reducing Stigma associated with mental health problems:  
this can prevent young people accessing services quickly.  
There is an average delay of ten years between experi-
encing first symptoms of a mental health problem and 

23

Page 75



receiving help for young people, mostly due to delay in 
their seeking help.  The national mental health awareness 
campaign, Time to Change, has made strides to tackle 
stigma; since 2007 there has been an 8.3% improvement 
in public attitudes towards mental health.  This needs to 
continue to reduce the stigma associated with accessing 
mental health services and seeking early help in children 
and young people.

Social Media and Young People’s Mental Health: the past 
two decades has seen a sharp increase in children’s use of 
digital media. Availability of digital devices has funda-
mentally reshaped young people’s relationships with the 
online world.  We know that children are now spending 
more time on screens - messaging on apps, creating their 
own blogs and consuming YouTube content.  The evi-
dence from a recent report89 demonstrates the very real 
impact that the digital world can have on young people’s 
mental health and wellbeing, both positive and negative.
 
It is essential to keep abreast of how social media is 
impacting on children and young people’s mental health, 
strategies for this include schools working e-safety into 
the curriculum, developing engaging and age-appropriate 
information about mental health on the CAMHS website 
and apps and ensuring that teachers, social workers and 
professionals working in Child and Adolescent Mental 
Health Services are skilled in understanding young peo-
ple’s experience of the online world and how to help them 

to build their digital resilience

Summary
• Societal influences and risks to mental health resil-

ience and wellbeing are changing for children and 
young people.

• The number of children and young people being 
identified with mental health problems has increased 
over recent years. Whilst we want to see and overall 
reduction in the number of children and young peo-
ple having mental health problems, encouraging them 
to come forward for help is an important first step.

Recommendations
• Services should offer a continuous pathway to chil-

dren and young people, enabling them to access 
appropriate support at any point.

• Commissioners and providers should undertake en-
gagement activity to understand more about children 
and young people’s mental health including what they 
find helps them, what worries them most and what 
would help them feel able to ask for help.

• Support parents and schools to deliver interventions 
to children and young people which focus on pro-
grammes that improve resilience.

• Ensure access to a range of interventions of differ-
ent intensity, through channels that work for young 
people.

24

Page 76



Definition of the Problem
Mental illness is a problem which, for most of us, 
will either affect us directly at some point during 
our life or will impact on the lives of those around 
us. Nationally, I in 4 adults will be diagnosed with a 
mental health condition during their lifetime, and at 
the time of the recent Adult Psychiatric Morbidity 
Survey (APMS) 1 in 6 adults had a Common Mental 
Disorder (CMD) – about 1 in five women and 1 in 
eight men. 

It is important to understand that mental health 
can have a real influence on our physical health. In 
order to grasp the scale of the influence, researchers 
have studied the difference in life expectancy be-
tween those who have a serious mental illness (such 
as schizophrenia) and those who don’t. People with 
such an illness have been found to live between 15 
and 25 years less than people who don’t.i For peo-
ple living with such a condition, this can have a real 
impact on their risk of dying of specific conditions: 
for example, for people with a serious mental illness, 
the risk of dying of heart disease has been found to 
be between one and a half and three times as high 
as other people. Worldwide, mental health problems 
are estimated to account for 23% of all of the years 
of life lost to death or disability amongst the popu-
lation (Disability Adjusted Life Years – or ‘DALYs’)91 
and that, in England, just like the rest of the world, 
depression is the single biggest cause of disability92.
 
What is the size of the problem for Lincolnshire?
In Lincolnshire, mental health conditions are re-
ducing both the quality and length of lives amongst 
the population, and for the population of those with 
serious mental illnesses, the difference in lifespan, on 
average, would be expected to be around 20 years. 
This is a very important issue for the health and well-
being of our population.

The most recent national survey data, applied to the 
population of Lincolnshire, would suggest that at 
any one time about 104,000 adults in Lincolnshire 
are living with a common mental disorder, which is 
roughly 17% of the population aged over 16. Com-
mon mental disorders include types of depression, 
anxiety, phobias, panic disorders and obsessive-com-

pulsive disorders.

We know that the prevalence of CMD is higher in 
younger age groups but is at its highest in people 
aged between 45 and 54, at 19.9%. 

Almost twice as many women as men report having 
one of these conditions nationally, which in Lincoln-
shire would equate to approximately 39,000 men 
and 65,000 women, with the most prevalent single 
common mental disorder being Generalised Anxiety 
Disorder. Please see Figure 3 for a further breakdown 
of the numbers of people estimated to be suffering 
from a CMD in Lincolnshire.

Figure 6: Common Mental Disorders in Lincolnshire 

Depression
Locally produced calculations, based on national 
data, suggest that over 20,000 people in Lincolnshire 

Chapter 4 Adult and older adult mental 
health conditions

25

Page 77



are expected to suffer from depression at any one 
time. General Practices in the UK keep a record of all 
patients diagnosed with depression. At present, over 
9% of adults in Lincolnshire were on the depression 
register, over 57,000 people. This has been increasing, 
but of course we would expect these lists to include 
the majority of people who have ever reported 
depression to their GP, rather than just those expe-
riencing symptoms now. Depression is the leading 
cause of disability worldwide according to the World 
Health Organisation. There is vast health, social and 
economic costs associated with it.  Depressive disor-
ders that have been clinically diagnosed account for 
nearly 3% of all of the years lost to ill-health, disabili-
ty or death in the UK92. 

Self-harm 
For some people, overwhelming emotional distress 
can lead to self- harming, usually as a coping mech-
anism93. This may be associated with depression, and 
can be associated with suicide; over half of people, 
who die by suicide, have a history of self-harm93. 
Between 2011 and 2013 there were 2,448 emergency 
admissions for intentional self-harm in Lincolnshire. 
We know that 1 in 10 young people can be expected 
to harm themselves, and that it is something that 
people of all ages do. 

Importantly, people living in the most deprived areas 
are five times more likely to have an emergency ad-
mission to hospital for self-harm than people in the 
least deprived areas94.  

Suicide
Between 2011 and 2013, 184 people aged 15 years 
and older died from suicide and suspected suicide in 
Lincolnshire. Every year since 1999 there have been 
at least 60 deaths in Lincolnshire from suicide.2 Sui-
cide is a tragic event and can have a huge impact on 
the family and friends of people who take their own 
lives. Suicide prevention is a priority for Lincoln-
shire, and county NHS and local government organ-
isations are working together to implement a suicide 
prevention action plan which can be viewed online at 
www.lpft.nhs.uk 

Some groups of people tend to have a higher rate of 
suicide than the average across the population. The 
groups include people in institutional care or cus-
tody, such as prisoners, people of sexual minorities, 
veterans, those bereaved by suicide, as well as minor-
ity ethnic groups. Understanding the warning signs 
and risk factors for suicide is an important part of su-

icide prevention. Anyone concerned about someone, 
or are struggling with suicidal thoughts themselves, 
can seek help via their GP or through organisations 
such as the Samaritans (www.samaritans.org).

Figure 7: Suicide in Lincolnshire

Drug & Alcohol abuse
Drug and alcohol abuse often go hand in hand 
with mental health problems. People can use these 
and other psychoactive substances as a means of 
‘self-medicating,’ dulling the pain or distracting from 
it when they are feeling overwhelmed. But this is 
problematic, as these things can be addictive and 
often end up with the user becoming dependant on 
them. This can add serious social problems to mental 
health issues, thus adding to and exacerbating under-
lying conditions. It is not unusual for people in Lin-
colnshire who have serious mental health problems 
to also have substance abuse or dependency prob-
lems, and this can make recovery more challenging. 

If we apply the national rates of harmful drinking to 
the population of Lincolnshire, we see that there are 
an estimated 23,064 people aged 16 years and older 
who are drinking at harmful levels,2 based on the 

26

Page 78



2014 Lincolnshire population. There are inequalities 
in the rate of hospital admissions for mental and be-
havioural disorders due to use of alcohol, with more 
people being admitted to hospital for these reasons 
from the most deprived areas, and relatively less from 
the least deprived areas. In Lincolnshire, Lincolnshire 
West CCG has the highest rate of hospital admissions 
for mental and behavioural disorders due to the use 
of alcohol (76.8/100,000) and South Lincolnshire has 
the lowest rate (47.7/100,000)2.

We know that men in Lincolnshire are far more likely 
to be admitted to hospital for mental health prob-
lems related to substance abuse than women, the rate 
of these hospital admissions is nearly three times 
higher for men than for women, which is suggestive 
of a greater tendency amongst men to ‘self-medicate’ 
rather than seek help95.The number of people esti-
mated to be dependent on drugs in Lincolnshire has 
previously been estimated to be over 20,000 people95.

More information on alcohol consumption in Lin-
colnshire can be found in the Lincolnshire substance 
misuse health needs assessment 2015, which can 
be accessed from the following website: www.re-
search-lincs.org.uk/Home.aspx [17]. For more infor-
mation on drugs, you can have a look at the Lincoln-
shire substance misuse health needs assessment 2015, 

which can be accessed from the following website: 
http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/JSNA-Topics.aspx 

Older Adults
Depression in older people has been described as a 
‘growing concern,’ with depression affecting one in 
five older people living in the community and two 
in five, nearly half, of those living in care homes4. 
Nationally, it has been estimated that 1.2 million 
people aged over 50 were severely socially excluded, 
having little or no engagement with their communi-
ties or with society in general94. In Lincolnshire, we 
would expect this number to be over 15,000 people, 
possibly far higher. Loneliness has been linked to 
both depression and dementia96 97, and reports have 
even suggested that loneliness can be as bad for your 
health as smoking98.

Dementia
Dementia is a term that is used to describe a set of 
symptoms; these can include loss of memory, mood 
changes, and problems with communication and rea-
soning. There are many types of dementia of which 
the most common are Alzheimer’s Disease and vas-
cular dementia99, and although people of all ages can 
be affected it usually affects people over the age of 65. 
The risk of developing dementia increases as peo-
ple age100. Importantly, dementia differs from other 

27

Page 79



mental health conditions discussed in this chapter in 
terms of the physical causes. Alzheimer’s disease, one 
of the most common forms of dementia, is thought 
to be caused by a build-up of proteins in the brain, 
and vascular dementia is associated with damage 
caused by a loss or restriction of blood supply inside 
areas of the brain101. These processes can lead to a 
decline in both a person’s mental health, including in 
terms of memory and cognitive function, and possi-
bly a reduction in physical abilities. 

Lincolnshire’s Joint Dementia Strategy99 outlines 
how the number of people living with dementia in 
Lincolnshire is expected to grow to over 13,500 by 
2020, from under 10,500 in 2012. Lincolnshire has a 
population which is relatively more elderly than the 
national average, with around 21% of the population 
aged over 65, compared to only 16% for the whole of 
England102. Dementia has thus been described as one 
of the most pressing challenges for health services 
locally100.  

Services
People in Lincolnshire with mental ill-health can 
access a wide range of primary, community and 
secondary care services to address their health 
needs. A recent Health Needs Assessment has been 
conducted to fully analyse mental health needs in 
Lincolnshire as well as the degree to which current 
services meet those needs. The following discussion 
of these services is adapted from this work, which 
can be viewed in full here www.research-lincs.org.
uk/Health-Needs-Assessments.aspx#HNA_Current  

Mental health services in Lincolnshire begin with 
primary care - e.g. GPs, dentists, opticians and phar-
macies. These services are central to addressing the 
health needs of people with mental ill- health, and 
they also provide for the needs of families and other 
carers. 

One way this is done is through the use of psycho-
logical therapies, such as the Improving Access to 
Psychological Therapies programme (IAPT). In Lin-
colnshire, the IAPT service is for anyone over the age 
of 16 who is feeling stressed, anxious, low in mood or 
depressed. 

The Adult Psychology service works alongside the 
primary mental health teams throughout Lincoln-
shire. Service users may be referred because of the 
complex and enduring nature of their mental health 
difficulties, or because of a lack of response to other 

accessible therapeutic interventions, such as counsel-
ling and cognitive behavioural therapy. Other servic-
es exist to help people overcome specific problems 
that can be linked to mental ill-health, such as eating 
disorders or a lack of secure employment.

In Lincolnshire, specialist health and care services 
for people with mental health problems and learning 
disabilities are provided by Lincolnshire Partnership 
NHS Foundation Trust (LPFT). LPFT Adult Mental 
Health Services care for people who are experiencing 
severe episodes of mental ill-health, or who need 
longer-term recovery plans put in place in order to 
return to independent living. LPFT also provides a 
dementia and specialist older adult mental health 
service for people of any age dealing with suspected 
or diagnosed dementia, and for older adults present-
ing with complex mental health problems. 

LPFT’s services include community mental health 
provision, where care is provided in the community 
for people who are recovering from a mental health 
problem. In addition to this, crisis resolution and 
home treatment support is provided to people at risk 
of being admitted to hospital, and for those who do 
need to be admitted acute inpatient care is provid-
ed. This is for people who are experiencing a severe, 
short-term episode of mental ill-health that cannot 
be managed by the community service. Treatment, 
usually for a short time, is provided on an inpatient 
ward at Lincoln, Grantham or Boston. 

During 2016 re-commissioning of all specialist drug 
and alcohol treatment services was undertaken in 
Lincolnshire. A new contract commenced with 
Addaction in October 2016. This new service pro-
vides Lincolnshire with a flexible, outcome based 
service to meet the current need and future changes 
in substance misuse trends whilst delivering finan-
cial efficiencies. A clear focus for these services is on 
developing a social recovery model of support with 
less emphasis being placed on medical interventions 
and a greater focus on prevention, abstinence, social 
inclusion and aftercare to enable service users to 
ultimately lead meaningful and productive lives. As 
such the new contract has a total of thirty outcomes 
spread over seven separate domains which are:

• Freedom from dependence on drugs or alcohol
• Improvement in mental and physical wellbeing
• Prevention of substance misuse related deaths 

and blood borne viruses
• A reduction in crime and re-offending

28

Page 80



• Sustained employment
• Improved relationships with family members, 

partners and friends
• Improved capacity to be an effective caring par-

ent
 
Forensic mental health services are provided for 
the care and treatment of individuals experiencing 
mental health problems who also pose a risk to the 
public. This service also provides care co-ordination 
for people suffering from mental ill-health, who are 
placed out of the county in low, medium or high-se-
curity hospitals. 

Where are the gaps?
Lincolnshire has a wide range of services to support 
those with mental health issues. In addition to the 
services discussed here, community and voluntary 
sector organisations operate to support people with 
mental health needs. Information about these servic-
es is not always easy to access, both for the general 
public and for medical professionals such as general 
practitioners. As such, bringing together informa-
tion on mental health services into one place so that 
both users and provider organisations are clear what 
services and support networks are available and how 
to access them could be a valuable innovation. 

This need for better organisation of information 
about services and pathways is symptomatic of the 
degree of complexity in the Lincolnshire landscape 
of mental health service. This can make it difficult for 
both patients and professionals to determine the best 
route for service access and treatment for patients. 
Furthermore, some services have specific thresholds 
for access which ensure that only those who are in 
clear clinical need of the service receive it. Whilst 
these thresholds are necessary to target provision at 
those most in need, this may prevent people who are 
in need but do not meet the clinical threshold for 
treatment from receiving preventative help. Second-
ary prevention, where people in the early stages of 
a mental health need which, left untreated, may get 
worse, should thus be a priority for Lincolnshire, 
along with primary prevention (preventing these 
issues in the first place) and treatment. 

Summary
• Mental ill-health is a common problem, with 1 

in 4 adults in the UK diagnosed with a common 
mental disorder in their lifetime. It is estimated 
that over 100,000 adults in Lincolnshire will be 
living with such a condition at any time.

• Common mental disorders include depression, 
anxiety, phobias and a panic disorder.

• Lincolnshire has a wide range of mental health 
services including primary care, therapeutic and 
preventative interventions, and acute and special-
ist care for those with more severe conditions.

Recommendations
Five recommendations for Lincolnshire have been 
identified as part of the recent Mental Health Needs 
Assessment for Lincolnshire. For further details, 
this needs assessment can be viewed here: www.
research-lincs.org.uk/UI/Documents/MiHNA%20
final%20report.pd

• Identification and recording of mental ill-health: 
Work should be undertaken to ensure that health 
professionals can correctly and consistently 
identify and record the signs and symptoms of all 
forms of mental ill-health.

• Timely access to mental health services based on 
needs: Whilst most adult outpatients are initially 
seen within the 18 week target, timely access to 
specific services such as IAPT and dynamic psy-
chotherapy could be improved.

• Data sharing between different organisations: The 
sharing of data between organisations needs to be 
improved. This includes between local providers 
but also between national data controllers and 
local intelligence teams of data such as the Men-
tal Health Minimum Dataset, Hospital Episodes 
Data, and GP patient demographic data.

• Awareness of services and support: More should 
be done to comprehensively bring together in-
formation on mental health services and support 
networks in one place, so that both the public 
and professionals are clear on what is available 
and how it can be accessed.

• Service user consultation: Service user feedback 
is important for understanding and improving 
the experience of service users. Providers should 
seek feedback from those who contact or use all 
mental health services and support networks.

29

Page 81



Risk factors:  
What influences our mental health?
• Clear reference and commitment to access to 

green space in development and regeneration 
policies for Lincolnshire neighbourhoods.

• Clear reference and commitment to community 
space availability, both safe informal spaces like 
pubs and seating areas and buildings where com-
munities can come together in more organised 
groups.

Perinatal and maternal mental health conditions 
• Women should continue to be assessed for men-

tal health problems at every contact with a health 
professional and throughout a child’s early years.       
Low level support should be maximised through 
upskilling of Health Visitors and developing peer 
support networks, meaning that a lower number 
of women will need onward referral to specialist 
services. 

• All professionals who come into contact with 
women during the ante and postnatal periods 
should ask about substance misuse, especially in 
women with known mental health problems, and 
refer on for additional support where needed.

• Evidence based support for low level or undiag-
nosed mental health problems should be made 
available through early years’ pathways to im-
prove maternal and child mental health. Data 
to find out the level of need should be collected 
through local surveys and/or by professionals 
who come into contact with pregnant women 
and young families. 

• Women and families should be signposted to in-
formal support where appropriate and awareness 
of the common nature of mental health problems 
should be raised in all groups who work with 
families and young children.

Childhood and adolescent mental health condi-
tions 
• Services should offer a continuous pathway to 

children and young people, enabling them to 
access appropriate support at any point.

• Commissioners and providers should undertake 
engagement activity to understand more about 
children and young people’s mental health in-
cluding what they find helps them, what worries 
them most and what would help them feel able to 
ask for help.

• Support parents and schools to deliver interven-
tions to children and young people which focus 
on programmes that improve resilience.

• Ensure access to a range of interventions of dif-
ferent intensity, through channels that work for 
young people.

Adult and Older Adult Mental Health Conditions 
• Identification and recording of mental ill-health: 

Work should be undertaken to ensure that health 
professionals can correctly and consistently 
identify and record the signs and symptoms of all 
forms of mental ill-health.

• Timely access to mental health services based on 
needs: Whilst most adult outpatients are initially 
seen within the 18 week target, timely access to 
specific services such as IAPT and dynamic psy-
chotherapy could be improved.

• Data sharing between different organisations: The 
sharing of data between organisations needs to be 
improved. This includes between local providers 
but also between national data controllers and 
local intelligence teams of data such as the Men-
tal Health Minimum Dataset, Hospital Episodes 
Data, and GP patient demographic data.

• Awareness of services and support: More should 
be done to comprehensively bring together in-
formation on mental health services and support 
networks in one place, so that both the public 
and professionals are clear on what is available 
and how it can be accessed.

• Service user consultation: Service user feedback 
is important for understanding and improving 
the experience of service users. Providers should 
seek feedback from those who contact or use all 
mental health services and support networks.

Chapter 5 Recommendations

30

Page 82



Glossary: mental health conditions

Adjustment disorders
Adjustment Disorder is a state of mixed emotions 
such as depression and anxiety which occurs as a 
reaction to major life events or when having to face 
major life changes such as illness or relationship 
breakdown.

Source: Royal College of Psychiatrists

Mild-moderate depression and anxiety
The main symptoms of depression are losing pleasure 
in things that were once enjoyable and losing interest 
in other people and usual activities.  A person with 
depression may also commonly experience some of 
the following: feeling tearful, irritable or tired most 
of the time, changes in appetite, problems with sleep, 
concentration and memory.  People with depression 
typically have lots of negative thoughts and feelings 
of guilt and worthlessness. Sometimes people with 
depression harm themselves, have thoughts about 
suicide, or may even attempt suicide.

Mild depression is when a person has a small num-
ber of symptoms that have a limited effect on their 
daily life. Moderate depression is when a person has 
more symptoms that can make their daily life much 
more difficult than usual.

Mild anxiety is experienced as feelings of being 
overwhelmed by responsibilities and unable to cope. 
People with depression may have feelings of anxiety 
as well.

Source: NICE27, Best Beginnings

Postpartum psychosis
Postpartum psychosis (or puerperal psychosis) is 
a severe episode of mental illness which begins 
suddenly in the days or weeks after having a baby. 
Symptoms vary and can change rapidly. They can 
include high mood (mania), depression, confusion, 
hallucinations and delusions.

Source: Royal College of Psychiatrists

Post-traumatic stress disorder
Postnatal Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) is 
experienced as nightmares, flashbacks, anger, and 

difficulty concentrating and sleeping. It may be a 
pre-existing condition or be triggered by a traumatic 
labour.

Source: Best Beginnings

Serious mental illness (severe mental illness)
Serious mental illness includes diagnoses which 
involve psychosis.  The most common disorders 
which are associated with psychotic symptoms are 
schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and psychotic de-
pression.  Psychosis is used to describe symptoms or 
experiences that happen together. Each person will 
have different symptoms, but the common feature is 
that they do not experience reality like most people. 
A person with psychosis may have: hallucinations, 
delusions, muddled thinking, lack of insight. 

Source: Mental Health Wales, Royal College of Psychi-
atrists

Severe depressive illness
Severe depression is when a person has many symp-
toms that can make their daily life extremely difficult. 
Sometimes a person with severe depression may have 
hallucinations and delusions (psychotic symptoms).

        Source: NICE

Glossary

31

Page 83



References
1. McManus S, Bebbington P, Jenkins R, Brugha 

T. (eds.) (2016) Mental health and wellbeing in 
England: Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey 2014. 
Leeds: NHS Digital.

2. Gavens, L (2016) A Mental Illness Health Needs 
Assessment for Lincolnshire, Lincoln, 2016

3. Regan M, Elliot I, Goldie I (2016) Better Mental 
Health for All: A public health approach to mental 
health improvement, London, 2016, p19

4. Better Mental Health For All, Faculty of Public 
Health, London, 2016, available at  http://www.fph.
org.uk/better_mental_health_for_all

5. Based on estimated Lincolnshire economy of ap-
prox. £10bn per year, see http://www.research-lincs.
org.uk/Local-Economic-Assessment.aspx

6. Gerhardt, S. (2014). Why love matters: How affec-
tion shapes a baby’s brain (2nd Edition). Routledge.

7. Bell, M.A., Ashton, K., Hughe.s, K., Ford, K., Bish-
op, J. and Paranjothy. (2015). Adverse Childhood 
Experiences and their impact on health-harming 
behaviours in the Welsh adult population. Wales: 
Public Health Wales.

8. Faculty of Public Health. (2016). Better Mental 
Health For All. london. Retrieved from http://www.
fph.org.uk/better_mental_health_for_all

9. Blank L, Baxter S, Messina J, Fairbrother H, Goy-
der L, Chilcott J. Summary review of the factors 
relating to risk of children experiencing social 
and emotional difficulties and cognitive difficul-
ties. Available at www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/
live/13634/58884/58884.pdf.

10. Gerhardt, S. (2014). Why love matters: How affec-
tion shapes a baby’s brain (2nd Edition). Routledge.

11. Bosmans, G., Braet, C. & Van Vlierberghe, L. 
(2010). Attachment and symptoms of psychopathol-
ogy: early maladaptive schemas as a cognitive link? 
Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy, 17, 374-85.

12. Gormley, B. & McNiel, D.E. (2010). Adult attach-
ment orientations, depressive symptoms, anger, 
and self-directed aggression by psychiatric patients. 
Cognitive Therapy and Research, 34, 272-281.

13. Ein-Dor, T., Doron, G., Solomon, Z., Mikulincer, 
M. & Shaver, P.R. (2010). Together in pain: attach-
ment-related dyadic processes and post traumatic 
stress disorder. Journal of Counselling Psychology, 
57, 317-327.

14. Giallo, R., Cooklin, A., Wade, C., D’Esposito, F., & 
Nicholson, J. M. (2014). Maternal postnatal mental 
health and later emotional-behavioural develop-
ment of children: The mediating role of parenting 
behaviour. Child: Care, Health and Development, 
40(3), 327–336. https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.12028

15. Kingston, D., Tough, S., & Whitfield, H. (2012). 
Prenatal and Postpartum Maternal Psychological 

Distress and Infant Development : A Systematic 
Review, 683–714. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-
012-0291-4

16. Apter-Levy, Feldman, Vakart, Ebstein, & Feldman 
(2013), Impact of Maternal Depression Across the 
First 6 Years of Life on the Child’s Mental Health, 
Social Engagement, and Empathy: The Moderating 
Role of Oxytocin, Am J Psychiatry 2013; 170:1161–
1168, 2013

17. Green, H., McGinnity, A., Meltzer, H., Ford, T., & 
Goodman, R. (2005). Mental Health of Children 
and Young People in Great Britain, 2004. London. 
https://doi.org/10.1037/e557702010-001

18. Wolke, D., & Lereya, S. T. (2015). Long-term effects 
of bullying. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 
100(9), 879–85. https://doi.org/10.1136/archdis-
child-2014-306667

19. Klomek, A., Sourander, A., & Gould, M. (2010). The 
association of suicide and bullying in childhood to 
young adulthood: A review of cross-sectional and 
longitudinal research findings. Canadian Journal of 
Psychiatry, 55(5), 282-288

20. E. Emerson and C. Hatton, “Estimating Future 
Needs for Adult Social Care for People with Learn-
ing Disabilities in England,” Centre for Disability 
research, Lancaster University, Lancaster, 2008.

21. Ford, T., Vostanis, P., Meltzer, H., & Goodman, R. 
(2007). Psychiatric disorder among British children 
looked Psychiatric disorder among British chil-
dren looked after by local authorities: comparison 
with children living in private households. British 
Journal of Psychiatry, 190(319), 319–325. Retrieved 
from http://bjp.rcpsych.org.eresources.shef.ac.uk/
content/bjprcpsych/190/4/319.full.pdf

22. McAuley, C., & Davis, T. (2009). Emotion-
al well-being and mental health of looked after 
children in England. Child & Family Social Work, 
14(2), 147–155. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-
2206.2009.00619.x

23. Kaess, M., Parzer, P., Mattern, M., Plener, PL., 
Bifulco, A., Resch, F., & Brunner, R. (2013) Adverse 
childhood experiences and their impact on frequen-
cy, severity, and the individual function of nonsui-
cidal self-injury in youth, Psychiatry Research, Vol-
ume 206, Issues 2–3, 30 April 2013, Pages 265-272.

24. Vostanis (2002). Mental health of homeless children 
and their families, Advances in Psychiatric Treat-
ment, vol. 8, pp. 463-469.

25. C. Vasiliou (2006), “Making the link between men-
tal health and youth homelessness. a pan-London 
study,” Mental Health Foundation, London, 2006

26. Nottinghamshire County Council (2015), Young 
People’s Health Strategy for Nottinghamshire, 
Nottingham, 2015, available at: http://www.notting-

32

Page 84



hamshire.gov.uk/
27. Susan Matthews & Susie Sykes (2012) Explor-

ing Health Priorities for Young People Leaving 
Care, Child Care in Practice, 18:4, 393-407, DOI: 
10.1080/13575279.2012.717913

28. Berkman LK, Kawachi I, eds. Social Epidemiology. 
New York: Oxford University Press; 2000

29. Leyden KM. Social Capital and the Built Environ-
ment: The Importance of Walkable Neighborhoods. 
Am J Public Health 2003;93(9):1546-1551

30. Cave B, Coutts A. Health Evidence base for the 
Mayor’s draft Cultural Strategy. London: South East 
London Strategic Health Authority and East Lon-
don & the City Health Action Zone; 2002

31. Michie C, De Rozarieux D. Rapid Review to Sup-
port the Mayor of London’s Biodiversity Strategy. 
The Health Impacts of Green Spaces in London. 
London: Ealing Hospital NHS Trust; 2001..

32. Delivering mixed, balanced communities. 2009, p. 
Chapter 26.

33. Government, Department for Communities and 
Local. Transferable Lessons from the New Towns. 
2006

34. Dannenberg AL, Jackson RJ, Frumlin H, Schieber 
RA, Pratt M, Kochtizky C, et al. The Impact of 
Community Design and Land-Use Choices on Pub-
lic Health: A scientific research agenda. Am J Public 
Health 2003;93(9

35. Taske N, Taylor L, Mulvihill C, Doyle N, Goodrich 
J, Killoran A. Housing and Public Health: A Review 
of Reviews of Interventions for Improving Health. 
Evidence briefing: National Institute for Health and 
Clinical Excellence; 2005.

36. Evans GW, Wells NM, Moch A. Housing and 
mental health: a review of the evidence and a 
methodological and conceptual critique. J Soc 
Issues. 2003;59:475–500. doi: 10.1111/1540-
4560.00074

37. Marcia Gibson a,n, MarkPetticrew b, ClareBambra 
c, AmandaJ.Sowden d, KathE.Wright d, Margaret 
Whitehead (2011), Housing and health inequalities: 
A synthesis of systematic reviews of interventions 
aimed at different pathways linking housing and 
health, Health & Place Volume 17, Issue 1, January 
2011, Pages 175–184, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.
healthplace.2010.09.011

38. World Health Organisation Europe. Fourth Min-
isterial Conference on Environment and Health. 
Budapest 2004.

39. CABE, 2010a; Croucher et al., 2007; Pretty et al., 
2007; Clark at al., 2013; Maas et al., 2009; CABE, 
2010b.

40. MIND. Ecotherapy – the green agenda for mental 
health Key findings Green exercise at local Mind 
groups . 2007.

41. M. Stafford and M. Marmot, Neighbourhood 
deprivation and health: does it affect us all equally?, 
International Journal of Epidemiology, vol. 32, pp. 

357-66, 2003.
42. Department for Communities and Local Govern-

ment (2015) , The Indices of Multiple Deprivation, 
available at https://www.gov.uk/government/statis-
tics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2015, 2015

43. Department for Communities and Local Govern-
ment (2015) , The Indices of Multiple Deprivation, 
available at https://www.gov.uk/government/statis-
tics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2015, 2015

44. Office for National Statistics, “Statutory homeless-
ness in England,” Department for Communities and 
Local Government, London, 2015

45. H. Meltzer, P. Bebbington, T. Brugha, R. Jenkins, 
S. McManus and M. Dennis, “Personal debt and 
suicidal ideation.,” Psychological Medicine, vol. 41, 
pp. 771-778, 2011.

46. Marmot (2010), Fair Society, healthy Lives: The 
Marmot Review, London, 2010, p26

47. NOMIS, “Labour Market Profile - Lincolnshire,” 
Office for National Statistics, Newport, 2015.

48. Faculty of Public Health (2016), Better Mental 
Health For All, London, 2016, available at  http://
www.fph.org.uk/better_mental_health_for_all

49. J. Cohen, “Safe in our hands? A study of suicide and 
self harm in asylum seekers,” Journal of Forensic 
and Legal Medicine, vol. 15, pp. 235-244, 2008

50. M. Oates, “Suicide: the leading cause of maternal 
death,” The British Journal of Psychiatry, vol. 183, 
pp. 279-81, 2003.

51. Public Health England/Royal College of Nursing, 
“Preventing suicide among lesbian, gay and bisex-
ual young people,” Public Health England, London, 
2015.

52. N. Kapur, D. While, N. Blatchley, I. Bray and K. 
Harrison, “Suicide after leaving the UK Armed 
Forces,” PLOS Medicine, 2009.

53. A. Pitman, D. Osborn, M. King and A. Erlangsen, 
“Effects of suicide bereavement on mental health 
and suicide risk,” The Lancet Psychiatry, vol. 1, pp. 
86-94, 2014.

54. J. Cooper, N. Kapur, R. Webb, M. Lawlor, E. 
Guthrie, K. Mackway-Jones and L. Appleby, “Su-
icide after deliberatre self-harm: a 4-year cohort 
study,” American Journal of Psychiatry, vol. 162, pp. 
297-303, 2005. 

55. NICE. Antenatal and postnatal mental health: clin-
ical management and service guidance. NICE Clin-
ical Guideline (CG192). London: National Institute 
for Health and Care Excellence, 2014. Available 
from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg192

56. NICE. Antenatal and postnatal mental health: clin-
ical management and service guidance. NICE Clin-
ical Guideline (CG192). London: National Institute 
for Health and Care Excellence, 2014. Available 
from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg192

57. Hogg S. Prevention in mind. All babies count: 
spotlight on perinatal mental health. London: 
NSPCC, 2012 (cited 2015 Sep 03). Available from: 

33

Page 85



www.nspcc.org.uk/services-and-resources/re-
search-and-resources/2013/all-babies-count-spot-
light-perinatal-mental-health/

58. Number of maternities (live and still births): ONS 
Birth Summary Tables - England and Wales 2015 
Available at: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopu-
lationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/
livebirths/datasets/birthsummarytables (Accessed 
29.12.16)

59. Rates of disorders: Joint Commissioning Panel for 
Mental Health. Guidance for commissioners of per-
inatal mental health services. Volume two: practical 
mental health commissioning. London: Joint Com-
missioning Panel for Mental Health; 2012. Available 
from: www.jcpmh.info/resource/guidance-perina-
tal-mental-health-services/

60. Marian Knight, Derek Tuffnell, Sara Kenyon, Judy 
Shakespeare, Ron Gray, Jennifer J Kurinczuk (Eds.) 
Saving Lives, Improving Mothers’ Care Surveillance 
of maternal deaths in the UK 2011-13 and lessons 
learned to  inform maternity care from the UK 
and Ireland Confidential Enquiries into Maternal 
Deaths and Morbidity 2009-13 December 2015.  
Available at: https://www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/mbrrace-
uk/reports

61. Howard LM, Oram S, Galley H, Trevillion K, Feder 
G. Domestic violence and perinatal mental disor-
ders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLOS 
Medicine. 2013;10(5):e1001452. doi: 10.1371/jour-
nal.pmed.1001452.

62. Lewis, G, Drife, J, et al. (2001) Why mothers die: 
Report from the confidential enquiries into ma-
ternal deaths in the UK 1997-9; commissioned 
by Department of Health from RCOG and NICE 
(London: RCOG Press)

63. NICE. Domestic violence and abuse: how health 
services, social care and the organisations they 
work with can respond effectively. NICE guidelines 
(PH50). London: National Institute for Health and 
Care Excellence, 2014. Available from: www.nice.
org.uk/guidance/ph50 

64. NICE clinical knowledge summary. Depression 
- antenatal and postnatal. London: National In-
stitute for Health and Clinical Excellence; 2013. 
Available from: cks.nice.org.uk/depression-antena-
tal-and-postnatal

65. NDTMS, Adult Partnership Activity Report, Lin-
colnshire

66. NICE. Contraceptive services with a focus on young 
people up to the age of 25. NICE guidelines (PH51). 
London: National Institute for Health and Care 
Excellence, 2014. Available from: www.nice.org.uk/
guidance/ph51

67. Mental Health Foundation. Young mums togeth-
er: promoting young mothers’ wellbeing. London: 
Mental Health Foundation, 2013. Available from: 
www.mentalhealth.org.uk/content/assets/PDF/pub-
lications/young-mums-together-report.pdf

68. Public Health Outcomes Framework tool (accessed 
29.11.16): available at: http://www.phoutcomes.
info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/4/
gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/102/are/
E10000019/iid/20401/age/173/sex/2

69. Source: Department for Communities and Local 
Government

70. Hogg S, Haynes A, Baradon T, Cuthbert C. An 
unstable start: All babies count: spotlight on home-
lessness. London: NSPCC and Anna Freud Centre, 
2015. Available from: www.nspcc.org.uk/servic-
es-and-resources/research-and-resources/2015/
all-babies-count-spotlight-homelessness-an-unsta-
ble-start/

71. Murphy M and Fonagy P (2012). Mental health 
problems in children and young people. In: Annual 
Report of the Chief Medical Officer 2012. London: 
Department of Health.

72. Personal Social Services Research Unit, London 
School of Economics and Political Science and 
Young Minds, 2016. Youth Mental Health: New 
Economic Evidence.  Available at: www.pssru.ac.uk/
publication-details.php?id=5160

73. NHS England.  Future in mind: Promoting, protect-
ing and improving our children and young peo-
ple’s mental health and wellbeing.  October 2015. 
Department of Health.

74. Childhood and Adolescent Mental Health: un-
derstanding the lifetime impacts, Mental Health 
Foundation, 2004

75. Nuffield Foundation (2012) Social trends and men-
tal health: introducing the main findings London: 
Nuffield Foundation

76. Hospital Episode Statistics (HES), Health and Social 
Care Information Centre

77. Young Minds: webpages available at: http://www.
youngminds.org.uk/about/whats_the_problem 
(Accessed 5.12.16).

78. K. Windfuhr, “Suicide in juveniles and adolescents 
in the United Kingdom,” Journal of Child Psycholo-
gy and Psychiatry, vol. 49, pp. 1157-67, 2008.

79. Public Health England, “Child Health Profiles - 
local authorities,” [Online]. Available: www.altas.
chimat.ork.uk/dataviews/report/fullpage?vie-
wId=493&reportId=535&geold=4&geoRepor-
tIs=4618 [Accessed 17 September 2015].

80. Healthwatch Lincolnshire, ““Hear our voice”: 
children and young people of Lincolnshire,” Health-
watch Lincolnshire, Boston, 2014

81. E. Emerson and C. Hatton, “Estimating Future 
Needs for Adult Social Care for People with Learn-
ing Disabilities in England,” Centre for Disability 
research, Lancaster University, Lancaster, 2008.

82. T. Ford, P. Vostanis, H. Meltzer and R. Goodman, 
“Psychiatric disorder among British children looked 
after by local authorities: comparison with children 
living in private households,” British Journal of 
Psychiatry, vol. 190, pp. 319-325, 2007.

34

Page 86



83. H. Meltzer, R. Gatward, T. Corbin, R. Goodman and 
T. Ford, “The mental health of young people looked 
after by local authorities in England,” Office for 
National Statistics, London, 2003

84. P. Vostanis, “Mental health of homeless children 
and their families,” Advances in Psychiatric Treat-
ment, vol. 8, pp. 463-469, 2002

85. Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs. Hidden 
harm- responding to the needs of children of prob-
lem drug users. London: Advisory Council on the 
Misuse of Drugs, 2011.  Available from: www.gov.
uk/government/publications/amcd-inquiry-hidden-
harm-report-on-children-of-drug-users

86. Health & Wellbeing – Alcohol & Drugs, Public 
Health England. 

87. Bauer A, Parsonage M, Knapp M, Iemmi V, and Ad-
elaja B (2014). The costs of perinatal mental health 
problems. London: Centre for Mental Health.

88. Brooks F (2012). Life stage: School Years. In: An-
nual Report of the Chief Medical Officer 2012. Our 
Children Deserve Better: Prevention Pays. London: 
Department of Health.

89. Resilience for the Digital World. Ecorys and Young-
Minds. 2016. Available at: http://www.uk.ecorys.
com/news/building-digital-resilience-key-keeping-
young-people-safe-online-%E2%80%93-new-report

90. Wahlbeck, K. et al., 2011. Outcomes of Nordic men-
tal health systems: life expectancy of patients with 
mental disorders, pp.453–458.

91. Murray CJL, Lopez Ad, eds. (1996). The global 
burden of disease and injury series, volume 1: a 
comprehensive assessment of mortality and disabil-
ity from diseases, injuries, and risk factors in 1990 
and project to 2020. Cambridge MA, USA: Harvard 
University Press

92. World Health Organisation (2013) Mental Health 
Action Plan: 2012-2020, http://www.who.int/men-
tal_health/action_plan_2013/en/

93. NHS Choices, Self Harm, http://www.nhs.uk/condi-
tions/self-injury/Pages/Introduction.aspx, accessed 
24.01.17

94. Cacioppo J. T. and Patrick, W. (2008). Loneliness: 
Human Nature and the Need for Social Connection. 
New York: W. W. Norton.

95. NHS Secondary Uses Service Data, used with per-
mission of the Health and Social Care Information 
Centre

96. Morgan, E. and Swann, C. (2004). Social capital for 
health: Issues of definitions, measurement and links 
to health. London: Health Development agency.

97. Mental Health Foundation. (2010). The Lonely So-
ciety. London: Mental Health Foundation.

98. Cacioppo, J.T., Fowler, J.H. and Christakis, N.A. 
(2009). Alone in the crowd: The structure and 
spread of loneliness in a large social network. 
Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 97 (6), 
977-991.

99. Lincolnshire County Council (2014), Lincoln-

shire Joint Strategy for Dementia,p5 available 
at https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/residents/
adult-social-care/strategies/joint-dementia-strate-
gy-2014-%E2%80%93-2017/121668.article

100. NHS Choices, About Dementia, http://www.nhs.uk/
Conditions/dementia-guide/Pages/about-dementia.
aspx, accessed 18/01/17

101. NHS Choices, Causes of Dementia, http://www.
nhs.uk/Conditions/dementia-guide/Pages/
causes-of-dementia.aspx, accessed 18/01/17

35

Page 87



Page 88


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Meeting of the Executive held on 7 February 2017
	5 Blue Light Campus and Collaboration Agreement
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	6 Council Business Plan 2016 - 2017 Performance Report, Quarter Three
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	7 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health on the Health of the People of Lincolnshire 2016
	Appendix A


